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Annual Report & Financial Statements - 31 Dec 2022

Foundation & team in place to deliver key R&D and commercial milestones

Roquefort Therapeu�cs  plc (LS E:RO Q ), the Main Market l i s ted biotech company focused on developing first in class
medicines  in the high value and high growth oncology market, announces  i ts  audited results  for year ended 31 December
2022.

Copies  of the Annual  Report and Financial  Statements  wi l l  be made avai lable on the Company's  website at:
 https://www.roquefortplc.com/results-centre

Highlights

·    Acquis i�on of O ncogeni  in September 2022 through the issue of 50,000,000 new ordinary shares  in the Company,
together with successful  Placing rais ing gross  proceeds of £1,015,000

·    Further strengthened Board and senior management team through the appointment of Ajan Reginald as  C EO,
Professor Si r Martin Evans  as  Chief Scienti fic Officer and Dr Darrin Dis ley as  Non-Executive Director

·    Reinforced the Company's  founda�on through O ncogeni 's  state of the art laboratory located in Stra;ord-upon-Avon
which has  the infrastructure required for the pre-cl inical  development of the Group's  por;ol io of an�bodies ,
ol igonucleotides  and cel l  and gene therapies  - s igni ficant cost advantages

·    Cash at year end 31 December 2022 of £2,322,974

Pre-clinical highlights

·    Acquis i�on of O ncogeni  s ignificantly increased pre-cl inical  por;ol io to four ful ly funded pre-cl inical  drug
development programs providing multiple opportunities  for success

·    Highly synergis�c programs focused on the pre-cl inical  development of the Midkine an�bodies , Midkine R NA, M K
Cel l  Therapies  and STAT-6, s iRNA

·    S igned partnership agreements  and commenced pre-cl inical  development programs with leading academic cancer
research centres

Post Period End Highlights

·    Key mi lestone achieved with RO Q -A1 and RO Q -A2 Midkine an�body programs, targe�ng metasta�c breast cancer,
and lung and l iver metastas is , successful ly demonstrated in vivo safety in pre-cl inical  development programs and
progressed into in vivo efficacy studies

·    s iRNA, MK cel l  therapy and Midkine ol igonucleotide programs progress ing pre-cl inical  development  
·   Signed exclus ive worldwide l icense agreement (excluding Japan) with Randox Laboratories  for 10 years  to u�l ise

Midkine antibodies  in medical  diagnostics
o  Highly synerge�c - deal  wi l l  accelerate abi l i ty to diagnose pa�ents  and therefore reduce �me and costs

when i t reaches  cl inical  tria ls
·    Randox deal  expected to strengthen balance sheet and highl ights  the Company's  deal  making capabi l i ties
·    Por;ol io further enhanced to a  total  of five programmes with the in-house development of a  pla;orm of novel

mRNA cancer medicines
·    Formation of Scienti fic Advisory Board

Outlook

·    On course with targets  for cl inical  readiness  for one of the Company's  development programs during H2 2023

·    Near-term I ND and l icens ing opportuni�es  from advanced stage of development of Midkine por;ol io products ,
MK cel l  and s iRNA products

·    Strategic goal  to take advantage of the paradigm shi ft that 90% of successful  biotech programs are acquired

·    Create value by iden�fying early innova�on, developing i t ei ther in-house or with a  research partner towards
cl inical  tria ls  and uti l i se experience to l icence or sel l  to big pharma

Commen&ng on the Annual Results, Chief Execu&ve O fficer, A jan Reginald said: "I n 2022 Roquefort Therapeu�cs  made
significant progress , notably with the successful  fundraise and comple�on of the acquis i�on of O ncogeni  in September
2022 which pivoted the Company into a  materia l  oncology group. Post the acquis i�on of O ncogeni , the Group's  por;ol io
consisted of four highly complementary ful ly funded programs with mul�ple novel  patent-protected pre-cl inical  an�-
cancer medicines. Each lead program is  capable of becoming a first-in-class  medicines  targe�ng some of the hardest to
treat cancers ."
 
"I n 2023, the Midkine an�body program has  successful ly demonstrated in vivo safety and progressed into in vivo efficacy
studies . I n March 2023, the Company announced the successful  development of a  fiGh program, the mR NA Midkine cancer
program, the third in i ts  Midkine fami ly.  An�-cancer mR NA is  a  highly aHrac�ve field with a  rela�vely smal l  number of
highly innovative companies  able to develop mRNA cancer therapeutics ."
 
"In H1 2023,  the Group made s igni ficant strategic and commercial  progress  by completing a  l icence and royalty agreement
with Randox Laboratories  to uti l i se the Group's  Midkine antibody portfol io for cl inical  diagnostics . The transaction
highl ights  the Group's  in-house deal  making capabi l i ties  and strategic focus  in therapeutics . The partnership with Randox
for cancer diagnostics  val idates  the Company's  strategy to target Midkine and brings  a  companion diagnostic, which
increases  the l ikel ihood of cl inical  tria l  success  and reduces  the associated time and cost."
 
"I n summary, in the first 6 months  of 2023, we have successful ly integrated O ncogeni  to form a materia l  oncology group,
accelerated the cancer programs to meet cri�cal  R&D mi lestones  on-�me and on-budget and demonstrated our bus iness
model  of real is ing value through l icens ing transac�ons. This  has  establ ished the strategic and commercial  founda�on
from which the Group wi l l  del iver shareholder value in 2023-4."
 

https://www.roquefortplc.com/results-centre
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
I  am pleased to report the audited financial  s tatements  to shareholders  for the year ended 31 December 2022.
During the year Roquefort Therapeu�cs  (the "Company" and together with i ts  subs idiaries , the "Group") has  made
substantia l  progress  towards  i ts  corporate goals .
 
Most notably, in September 2022, Roquefort Therapeu�cs  successful ly completed a fundraise via  the issue of
7,249,998 ordinary shares  ra is ing total  gross  cash proceeds of £1,015,000 and the acquis i�on of O ncogeni  for an
aggregate equity cons idera�on fair value of £3.75 mi l l ion through the issue of 50,000,000 new ordinary shares  in
the Company (the "Acquis i tion"), transforming Roquefort Therapeutics  into a  materia l  oncology Group. 
 
Roquefort Therapeu�cs  completed the integra�on of the O ncogeni  por;ol io and enhanced the Group's  network of
partnerships  with leading academic cancer research centres . These partners  complement the Group's  own world-
class  in-house exper�se and laboratory infrastructure and enable Roquefort Therapeu�cs  to implement a  broader
and more effec�ve development strategy. The Group bel ieves  i ts  distributed R&D model  i s  highly scalable and cost
effective.
 
I n paral lel , bus iness  development ac�vi�es  were s ignificantly enhanced by mee�ng a number of leading
pharmaceu�cal  companies  to introduce Roquefort Therapeu�cs  and present the novel  por;ol io. This  has  enabled
the Group to accelerate the out-l icens ing strategy in both core and non-core appl ications. 
 
Acquisition of Oncogeni
The acquis i�on of O ncogeni , divers ified Roquefort Therapeu�cs  into a  materia l  oncology group with a  pre-cl inical
an�-cancer por;ol io that i s  patent protected and ful ly funded to complete pre-cl inical  development ac�vi�es  and
submit appl ica�ons to commence cl inical  tria ls . I n addi�on to s ignificantly expanding the por;ol io, Roquefort
Therapeu�cs  now has  a  state-of-the-art laboratory in the UK  which provides  the Group with major cost saving and
�me advantages  as  the Group progresses  through the pre-cl inical  s tage of development. The Acquis i�on also
strengthened the Roquefort Therapeu�cs  Board and senior management with complementary ski l l s  and exper�se.
The team in place has  excep�onal  experience in drug development and driving and real is ing value in biotech. The
Acquis i�on introduced new shareholders  into the Group, including Dai ichi  Sankyo, a  global  pharmaceu�cal  Group
and C H Health, a  specia l is t biotech venture capital  investor - val ida�ng the high poten�al  of the Group's  investment
proposition and growth strategy.
 
O ncogeni  has  developed two fami l ies  of innova�ve cel l  and R NA oncology medicines, both in pre-cl inical
development, which are protected by nine patents  and complement the existing Midkine programs wel l :

·    Mesodermal  K i l ler ("M K ") cel ls :  a  new class  of cel lular medicine engineered to ki l l  cancer cel ls  both directly
and by enhancing the activi ty of natural  ki l ler cel ls ; and

·    Smal l  interfering R NA ("s i R NA") therapeu�cs: ki l l  cancer cel ls  by inhibi�ng a novel  cancer target STAT6
(s ignal  transducer and activator of transcription 6).

 
The M K  and s i R NA fami l ies  cons ist of s ix and four drug candidates  each i .e., M K 1-6 and s i R NA 1-4. Each candidate is
protected by composi�on of maHer patents  and has  the poten�al  to be a new medicine subject to the successful
completion of development.
 
The Board and senior management team was s ignificantly expanded with the acquis i�on of O ncogeni  with Ajan
Reginald joining as  C EO  of Roquefort Therapeu�cs.  Ajan has  a  strong track record in drug development, biotech
transac�ons and commercial isa�on. O ver 20 years , he has  served as  the Global  Head of Emerging Technologies  for
Roche Group (SWX: ROG), Chief Operating Officer and Chief Technology Officer of Novacyt S.A (LON: NCYT) and CEO of
Cel ixi r Ltd.
 
I n addi�on, P rofessor S i r Mar�n Evans  was appointed as  Chief Scien�fic O fficer.  S i r Mar�n was the first scien�st
to iden�fy embryonic stem cel ls , which can be adapted for a  wide variety of medical  purposes. His  discoveries  are
now being appl ied in vi rtual ly a l l  areas  of biomedicine - from bas ic research to the development of new therapies .
I n 2007, he was awarded the Nobel  P rize for Medicine, the most pres�gious  honour in world science, for these
"ground-breaking discoveries  concerning embryonic stem cel ls  and DNA recombination in mammals ."
 



 
Further, Dr Darrin Dis ley was  appointed Non-Execu�ve Director, and is  a  renowned scien�st, entrepreneur, angel
investor and enterprise champion who has  started, grown, or invested in over 40 start-up l i fe science, technology
and socia l  enterprises , ra is ing US$600 mi l l ion in bus iness  financing and clos ing US$700 mi l l ion in commercial
deals . He was C EO  of Horizon Discovery Group plc for 11 years , during which he led the company from start-up
through a US$113 mi l l ion I P O, and rapid scale-up powered by mul�ple acquis i�ons of US peer companies  to
become a global  market leader in gene editing and gene modulation technologies .
 
S ince l i s�ng in March 2021, Roquefort Therapeu�cs  has  establ ished a qual i ty team, underpinned by a  proven
col lec�ve track record in the development, progress ion and commercial isa�on of relevant medicines, a  key aspect
of Roquefort Therapeu�cs ' investment proposi�on and leaves  the Group wel l  placed, subject to further funding, to
del iver i ts  growth objectives .
 
Pre-clinical development during 2022
During the period, the Group enhanced the por;ol io s ignificantly, completed the integra�on of the O ncogeni
por;ol io. Post the Acquis i�on, the Group's  por;ol io cons isted of four ful ly funded, novel  patent-protected pre-
cl inical  anti -cancer medicines.  The highly complementary profi le of four best-in-class  medicines  cons ists  of:

·    Midkine antibodies  with s igni ficant in vivo efficacy and toxicology studies;
·    Midkine RNA ol igonucleotide therapeutics  with novel  anti -cancer gene editing action;
·    STAT-6 s iRNA therapeutics  targeting sol id tumours  with s igni ficant in vivo efficacy; and
·    MK cel l  therapy with direct and NK-mediated anti -cancer action.

 
The Group continued to progress  i ts  four novel  patent-protected pre-cl inical  anti -cancer medicines  during the period
through a combina�on of partnerships  with leading academic cancer research centres  and at the Group's  state of
the art laboratory.
 
W ith the programs focused on the pre-cl inical  development of the Midkine an�bodies , Midkine R NA ol igonucleo�de
and STAT-6 s i R NA, the Group s igned partnership agreements  and commenced pre-cl inical  development programs
with the fol lowing leading academic cancer research centres:

·    Ol ivia  Newton-John Cancer Research Insti tute, La Trobe Univers i ty, Melbourne
o  Breast cancer metastas is , Midkine antibody program

·    Lowy Cancer Research Centre, Univers i ty of New South Wales
o  Liver and Colorectal  cancer, Midkine RNA ol igonucleotide and STAT-6 s iRNA programs

·    Hawkins  Laboratory Biochemistry and Genetics , La Trobe Univers i ty, Melbourne
o  Lung cancer metastas is , Midkine antibody program

·    School  of Medical  Sciences, Univers i ty of Sydney
o  Midkine RNA ol igonucleotide program

 
I n addi�on, the Group is  u�l is ing i ts  state of the art laboratory in Stra;ord-upon-Avon to develop the M K  cel l
therapy program in-house. The laboratory includes  a  clean room, laminar flow cabinets  and cryopreserva�on
infrastructure required for pre-cl inical  development of innova�ve new medicines, par�cularly cel l  and gene
therapies .
 
Post Period End
2023 started with s ignificant momentum, with the Group's  Midkine an�body program, targe�ng metasta�c breast
cancer and metasta�c lung cancer, successful ly demonstra�ng in vivo safety in pre-cl inical  development programs
carried out by leading cancer research groups (stated above), a  key development mi lestone.   RO Q -A1 and RO Q -A2
are the patented humanised an�body medicines  des igned by Roquefort Therapeu�cs  to target the novel  Midkine
target prevalent in hard-to-treat cancers .  These mi lestones  were completed on schedule and within budget.  Both
Midkine an�body candidates  wi l l  now progress  into in vivo pre-cl inical  efficacy studies  to assess  cancer ki l l ing
abi l i ty in primary and metasta�c breast cancer and lung cancer.   Both an�bodies  are valuable assets  that fit the
establ ished Big P harma paradigm of trea�ng cancer with novel  an�body therapeu�cs.  The s i R NA, M K  cel l  therapy
and Midkine R NA ol igonucleo�de programs are a lso progress ing wel l  and are expected to complete pre-cl inical
development mi lestones  in Q2 2023.
 
The Group has  a lways  bel ieved Midkine to be a truly novel  target and has  been op�mis�c in the therapeu�c
poten�al  of Midkine. I n February 2023 Roquefort Therapeu�cs  val idated Midkine as  a  target by s igning a  Licence
and Royalty agreement with leading diagnos�cs  group, Randox Laboratories  in rela�on to the Group's  Midkine
an�body por;ol io.   The Group is  el igible to receive upfront and poten�al  marke�ng mi lestone receipts , as  wel l  as
royal�es  on diagnos�cs  products  sold. The Group received from Randox an upfront amount of £200,000 and can
earn further poten�al  mi lestone receipts  of up to £150,000 for marke�ng approval  in certain jurisdic�ons. The
Group wi l l  a lso receive royal�es  from Randox on net sales  of any commercial ised diagnos�c products .  Randox is
developing a  diagnos�c to iden�fy pa�ents  with cancers  that overexpress  Midkine which is  highly synergis�c with
Roquefort Therapeu�cs ' development of first-in-class  cancer medicines.   The Licence and Royalty agreement a lso
benefits  the Group's  prepara�on for cl inical  tria l  readiness  because diagnosing pa�ents  early wi l l  accelerate the
abi l i ty to diagnose pa�ents  for cl inical  tria ls  which wi l l  drama�cal ly reduce �me and costs  associated, and in
addi�on, cl inical  tria ls  with companion diagnos�cs  have a much higher success  rate - 15.9% vs  7.6% (B I O, Q S L
Advisors  and Informa UK 2021 Report).
 
F inal ly in March 2023, Roquefort Therapeu�cs  announced the successful  development of a  fiGh program and a third
in i ts  Midkine fami ly.  The Roquefort Therapeu�cs  team led by Vice P res ident of Drug Discovery, P rofessor Graham
Robertson, has  del ivered a pioneering mR NA an�-cancer program.  This  new pla;orm of mR NA therapeu�cs  was
developed in-house and cons ists  of four mR NA pre-cl inical  therapeu�cs  targe�ng Roquefort Therapeu�cs ' novel
Midkine target.   Developing the mR NA an�-cancer program is  highly synergis�c with the Group's  exis�ng Midkine
R NA ol igonucleo�de program in development at the Univers i ty of New South Wales , ensuring development con�nues
to remain on budget and on schedule. The addi�on of the mR NA fami ly expanded Roquefort Therapeu�cs ' por;ol io
to five highly innova�ve programs which remain ful ly funded to the cri�cal  value inflec�on point of cl inical  tria l
readiness .  The Group is  now working towards  demonstra�ng efficacy of the mR NA therapeu�cs  in specific cancer
targets , a longs ide the Group's  existing Midkine RNA ol igonucleotide program.
 
Strategy & Outlook
Roquefort Therapeu�cs ' s trategy is  to iden�fy the next genera�on of medicines  for the most difficult to treat cancers
which have a high mortal i ty rate, and develop medicines  in-house and with academic partners  through the pre-
cl inical  phase to cl inical  tria l  readiness  and I ND fil ings .  The Group has  the necessary exper�se and experience to
package up the programs for l icence or sale to big pharma which is  the Group's  ul�mate aim to real ise value. 
Through the materia l  s trategic progress  del ivered over the course of the prior year, Roquefort Therapeu�cs  is  wel l
pos i�oned with currently five pre-cl inical  programs, and a cons iderably strengthened team to del iver s ignificant



posi�oned with currently five pre-cl inical  programs, and a cons iderably strengthened team to del iver s ignificant
progress  in a  focused and cost-effec�ve manner, through a combina�on of partnerships  with leading academic
cancer research centres  and a high-qual i ty in-house laboratory. 
 
2023 has  started with s ignificant momentum and the Group has  la id the founda�ons to real ise this  strategy having
expanded the Group in September 2022 and by i ts  pre-cl inical  and commercial  successes  announced during Q 1
2023.  The Randox l icens ing agreement has  demonstrated the Group's  abi l i ty to achieve deals , and out l icencing to
strategic partners , both in diagnos�cs  and therapeu�cs, i s  a   key priori ty for Roquefort Therapeu�cs  during 2023.  
The pre-cl inical  progress  is  highly encouraging and the Group wi l l  update shareholders  as  to i ts  further progress  in
due course. 
 
The Chairman's  statement should be read as  part of the strategic report.
 
Stephen West, Executive Chairman
4 June 2023
 
DIRECTORS' REPORT
The Directors  present their report with the audited financial  s tatements  of Roquefort Therapeu�cs  plc ("the
Company") and i ts  subs idiaries  Lyramid P ty Limited ("Lyramid"), O ncogeni  Limited ("O ncogeni") and Tumorkine P ty
Limited ("Tumorkine") (together "the Group") for the year ended 31 December 2022. A commentary on the bus iness
for the year is  included in the Chairman's  Statement. A review of the bus iness  is  a lso included in the Strategic
Report.
 
The Company's  O rdinary Shares  are l i s ted on the London Stock Exchange, on the O fficial  List pursuant to Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules , which sets  out the requirements  for Standard Listings .
 
Directors
The Directors  of the Company during the year and their beneficial  interest in the O rdinary shares  of the Company at
31 December 2022 were as  fol lows:

Director Position Appointed
Ordinary 

shares Warrants

Ste phe n We s t1 Exe cuti ve  Cha i rma n 17/08/2020 5,313,264 7,500,000

Aja n Re gi na l d Chi e f Exe cuti ve  Offi ce r 16/09/2022 11,627,786 -
Si r Ma rti n Eva ns Chi e f Sci e nti fi c Offi ce r 16/09/2022 - -
Dr Mi cha e l  Ste i n Non-Exe cuti ve  Di re ctor 22/03/2021 - 2,000,000
Ms  Je a n Duva l l Non-Exe cuti ve  Di re ctor 05/04/2022 - 300,000

Dr Si mon Si ncl a i r2 Non-Exe cuti ve  Di re ctor 20/04/2022 60,415 300,000
Dr Da rri n Di s l e y Non-Exe cuti ve  Di re ctor 16/09/2022 1,225,966 -
1 4,628,485 O rdinary  shares and 7,500,000 warrants held by  C resthav en Inv estments Pty  Ltd A TF  The Bellini Trust; and 684,779 O rdinary
shares were held by  Stephen West direct

2 300,000 warrants held by  Liv ingstone Inv estment Holdings Ltd; and 60,415 O rdinary  shares were held by  S imon Sinclair direct

 
Qualifying Third Party Indemnity Provision
 At the date of this  report, the Company has  a  third-party indemnity pol icy in place for a l l  Directors .
 
Substantial shareholders
 As  at 31 December 2022, the total  number of i ssued O rdinary Shares  with vo�ng rights  in the Company was
129,149,998. Detai ls  of the Company's  capital  s tructure and vo�ng rights  are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements .
 
The Company has  been no�fied of the fol lowing interests  of 3 per cent or more in i ts  i ssued share capital  as  at the
date of approval  of this  report.

Party Name

Number of
Ordinary Shares

% of
Share Capital

Aja n Re gi na l d 11,627,786 9.00%

Abde l a ti f La cha b 7,750,000 6.00%

Ja ne  Whi ddon1
7,300,000 5.65%

M She i kh 5,744,870 4.45%

Ste phe n We s t2 5,313,264 4.11%
Prove l ma re  SA 5,000,000 3.87%
Z She i kh 4,018,910 3.11%

M Rol l i ns 4,000,000 3.10%
K Fa l l on 3,905,215 3.02%
1  2,500,000 shares held by  MIMO  Strategies Pty  Ltd (A TF  the MIMO  Trust); 4,100,000 shares held by  6466 Inv estments Pty  Ltd; 700,000
shares held by  Nautical Holdings WA  Pty  Ltd - all of which are entities controlled by  J Whiddon
2  4,628,484 shares held by  C resthav en Inv estments Pty  Ltd (A TF  the Bellini Trust) - an entity  associated w ith S West

 
Financial instruments
Detai ls  of the Company's  financial  ri sk management objectives  and pol icies  as  wel l  as  exposure to financial  ri sk are
contained in the accounting pol icies  and note 21 of the financial  s tatements .
 
Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
The Company is  aware that i t needs  to measure i ts  opera�onal  carbon footprint in order to l imit and control  i ts
environmental  impact. However, due to i ts  opera�onal  footprint being l imited to a  laboratory leased from August
2022, consuming less  than 40,000 kW h of energy, the Company is  currently exempt from GH G repor�ng
requirements .
 
I n the future, the Company wi l l  only measure the impact of i ts  direct ac�vi�es, as  the ful l  impact of the en�re supply
chain of i ts  suppl iers  cannot be measured practical ly. 
 
TCFD Disclosure
The Group was incorporated in August 2020, and operated virtual ly un�l  i ts  acquis i�on of O ncogeni  Limited in
September 2022, at which point the Group commenced a short-term lease of laboratory and office faci l i�es. The
Group therefore wi l l  begin to cons ider i ts  impact on the environment and the risks  i t faces  from cl imate change, for
the first �me during 2023 and expects  to develop i ts  sustainabi l i ty plans  over a  5 year period, commensurate with



the first �me during 2023 and expects  to develop i ts  sustainabi l i ty plans  over a  5 year period, commensurate with
the s ize of i ts  opera�ons. C l imate change was not cons idered a principal  risk or uncertainty for the year ended 31
December 2022.
 
I n l ine with the requirements  of the F inancial  Conduct Authori ty's  Lis�ng Rule 14.3.27R, and for the above reasons,
we note that we have not made the disclosures , in respect of the financial  year ended 31 December 2022, in l ine with
the recommendations  and recommended disclosures  of the TCFD.
 
Dividends
The Directors  do not propose a dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022.
 
Research and development, Future developments and events subsequent to the year end
Further detai ls  of the Company's  research and development, future developments  and events  subsequent to the year-
end are set out in the Strategic Report. Research and development costs  incurred for the year ended 31 December
2022 were £319,315 (2021 - £698).
 
Corporate Governance
The Governance report forms part of the Director's  Report.
 
Going Concern
The Directors  have prepared financial  forecasts  to es�mate the l ikely cash requirements  of the Group over the
period to 30 June 2024, given i ts  stage of development and lack of recurring revenues. I n preparing these financial
forecasts , the Directors  have made certain assump�ons with regards  to the �ming and amount of future expenditure
over which they have control . The Directors  have cons idered the sens i�vity of the financial  forecasts  to changes  in
key assump�ons, including, among others , poten�al  cost overruns  within commiHed spend and changes  in
exchange rates .
 
The Group's  avai lable resources  are sufficient to cover the Group's  plans  to complete pre-cl inical  development
ac�vi�es  and submit appl ica�ons to commence cl inical  tria ls  during 2023, however, they are not sufficient to cover
exis�ng commiHed costs  and the costs  of planned ac�vi�es  for at least 12 months  from the date of s igning these
consol idated and company financial  s tatements .
 
The Directors  plan to raise further funds  during 2023 (ei ther through l icencing deals  and/or equity placements) and
have reasonable expecta�ons that sufficient cash wi l l  be raised to fund the planned opera�ons of the Group for a
period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of these financial  s tatements . The funding requirement
indicates  that a  materia l  uncertainty exists  which may cast s ignificant doubt over the Group's  and Company's
abi l i ty to con�nue as  a  going concern, and therefore i ts  abi l i ty to real ise i ts  assets  and discharge i ts  l iabi l i�es  in
the normal  course of bus iness .
 
AGer due cons idera�on of these forecasts , current cash resources, including the sens i�vity of key inputs , and plans
to raise further funds, the Directors  cons ider that the Group wi l l  have adequate financial  resources  to con�nue in
opera�onal  existence for the foreseeable future (being a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of this  report)
and, for this  reason, the financial  s tatements  have been prepared on a going concern bas is . The financial  s tatements
do not include the adjustments  that would be required should the going concern bas is  of prepara�on no longer be
appropriate.
 
Principal Activities
The Company's  principal  ac�vity in the repor�ng period was the precl inical  development of next genera�on
medicines  focused on hard to treat cancers .
 
Auditors
O n 1 December 2022, Jeffreys  Henry LLP  res igned as  the Company's  auditors  and confirmed that there are no
circumstances  connected with their res igna�on which they cons idered should be brought to the aHen�on of the
Company's  members  or creditors  in accordance with Section 519 of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
O n 16 January 2023 i t was  announced that the Company had appointed BD O  LLP  as  i ts  auditors  with immediate
effect. The appointment of BD O  LLP  wi l l  be subject to approval  by shareholders  at the next Annual  General  Mee�ng
of the Company.
 
Statement of Directors' responsibilities
The Directors  are responsible for preparing the Annual  Report a longs ide the financial  s tatements  in accordance
with appl icable law and regulations.
 
Company law requires  the Directors  to prepare financial  s tatements  for each financial  year. Under that law the
Directors  have prepared the financial  s tatements  in accordance with UK  adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng
Standards.
 
Under company law the Directors  must not approve the financial  s tatements  unless  they are sa�sfied that they give
a true and fa ir view of the state of affairs  of the Company and of the profit or loss  of the Company for that year. The
Directors  are a lso required to prepare financial  s tatements  in accordance with the rules  of the London Stock
Exchange for companies  with a  Standard Listing.
 
In preparing these financial  s tatements , the Directors  are required to:
•        Select suitable accounting pol icies  and then apply them consistently;
•        Make judgments  and accounting estimates  that are reasonable and prudent;
•        State whether appl icable UK  adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards  have been fol lowed, subject to any

materia l  departures  disclosed and explained in the financial  s tatements; and
•        P repare the financial  s tatements  on the going concern bas is  unless  i t i s  inappropriate to presume that the

Company wi l l  continue in bus iness .
 
The Directors  are responsible for keeping adequate accoun�ng records  that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company's  transac�ons and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any �me the financial  pos i�on of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial  s tatements  and the Remunera�on CommiHee Report comply with the
Companies  Act 2006. They are a lso responsible for safeguarding the assets  of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps  for the preven�on and detec�on of fraud and other i rregulari�es. They are a lso responsible to
make a statement that they cons ider that the annual  report and accounts , taken as  a  whole, i s  fa i r, balanced, and
understandable and provides  the informa�on necessary for the shareholders  to assess  the Company's  pos i�on and
performance, bus iness  model  and strategy.
 
The Directors  are responsible for the maintenance and integri ty of the corporate and financial  informa�on included
on the Company's  website. Legis la�on in the United K ingdom governing the prepara�on and dissemina�on of the
financial  s tatements  may di ffer from legis lation in other jurisdictions.
 
Statement of Directors' responsibilities pursuant to Disclosure and Transparency Rules 
Each of the Directors  confi rm that, to the best of their knowledge and bel ief:

•     the financial  s tatements  prepared in accordance with UK  adopted I nterna�onal  Accoun�ng Standards, give a
true and fa ir view of the assets , l iabi l i ties , financial  pos ition and loss  of the Group and Company; and

•     the Annual  Report and financial  s tatements , including the Strategic Report, includes  a  fa i r review of the
development and performance of the bus iness  and the pos i�on of the Group and Company, together with a



development and performance of the bus iness  and the pos i�on of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principal  risks  and uncertainties  that they face.

 
Disclosure of Information to Auditors
So far as  the Directors  are aware, there is  no relevant audit informa�on of which the Company's  auditors  are
unaware, and each Director has  taken al l  the steps  that they ought to have taken as  a  Director in order to make
themselves  aware of any relevant audit informa�on and to establ ish that the Company's  auditors  are aware of that
information.
 
This  directors ' report was  approved by the Board of Directors  on 4 June 2023 and is  s igned on i ts  behal f by:
Stephen West, Executive Chairman
 

STRATEGIC REPORT
The Directors  present the Strategic Report of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.
 
Section 172(1) Statement - Promotion of the Company for the benefit of the members as a whole
The Directors  bel ieve they have acted in the way most l ikely to promote the success  of the Company for the benefit of
i ts  members  as  a  whole, as  required by s172 of the Companies  Act 2006.
 
The requirements  of s172 are for the Directors  to:

•     Cons ider the l ikely consequences  of any decis ion in the long term;
•     Act fa i rly between the members  of the Company;
•     Maintain a  reputation for high standards  of bus iness  conduct;
•     Cons ider the interests  of the Company's  employees;
•     Foster the Company's  relationships  with suppl iers , customers  and others ; and
•     Cons ider the impact of the Company's  operations  on the community and the environment.

 
The Company acquired Lyramid P ty Ltd in late 2021 and then subsequently acquired O ncogeni  Limited in September
2022. The pre-revenue nature of the bus iness  is  important to the understanding of the Company by i ts  members  and
suppl iers , and the Directors  are as  transparent about the cash pos i�on and funding requirements  as  i s  a l lowed
under LSE regulations.
 
We aim to work responsibly with our stakeholders , including suppl iers . The key Board decis ions  made in the year
and post year end are set out below:
Significant events / decisions Key s172 matter(s) affected Actions and Consequences
Entering into an agreement to
purchase the entire issued share
capital  of Oncogeni  Limited and the
associated Share Placing

Shareholders  and Bus iness
Relationships

Completion of the acquis i tion and
associated Placing, with the enlarged
share capital  l i s ted on the London
Stock Exchange, leading to greater
l ikely outcomes for shareholders  in
the future. Shareholders  were
communicated to and decis ions  made
by the Directors  were noti fied via  the
Regulatory New Service.

 
Interests of Employees
The Company's  Corporate Governance Statement of this  Annual  Report sets  out (under board responsibi l i�es) the
processes  in place to safeguard the interests  of employees.
 
Foster business relationships with suppliers, joint venture partners and others
Poten�al  suppl iers  and joint venture partners  are cons idered in the l ight of their suitabi l i ty to comply with the
Company's  pol icies .
 
Impact of operations on the community and environment
The Company wi l l  continue to monitor the impact of i ts  research faci l i ties  on the community and environment.
 
Maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct
The Corporate Governance sec�on of this  Annual  Report sets  out the Board and CommiHee structures  and Board and
CommiHee mee�ngs held during the year, together with the experience of execu�ve management and the Board and
the Company's  pol icies  and procedures.
 
Act fairly as between members of the Company
The Board takes  feedback from a wide range of shareholders  (large and smal l ) and endeavours  at every opportunity
to pro-ac�vely engage with a l l  shareholders  (via  regulatory news repor�ng-R NS) and engage with any specific
shareholders  in response to par�cular queries  they may have from �me to �me. The Board cons iders  that i ts  key
decis ions  during the year have impacted equal ly on al l  members  of the Company.
 
Review of Business in the Year
 
Operational Review
The Company's  principal  activi ty i s  set out in the Directors ' Report.
 
During the first nine months  of the year under review the Company was primari ly focused on the pre-cl inical
development of R NA ol igonucleo�de drugs  targe�ng Midkine.  These R NA ol igonucleo�de drugs  interfere with
process ing of the Midkine mR NA ul�mately leading to reduced ac�ve Midkine protein produced in diseased
tissues  and tumours .
 
O n 22 June 2022 the Company announced that i t had entered into a  condi�onal  sale and purchase agreement
with the shareholders  of O ncogeni  Limited ("O ncogeni") to acquire 100% of the total  i ssued equity in O ncogeni  for
an aggregate cons idera�on of £3,750,000 to be sa�sfied by the issue of 50,000,000 new ordinary shares  in the
Company.
 
O ncogeni  was  establ ished in 2019 by Nobel  Laureate P rofessor S i r Mar�n Evans. I t had an experienced
leadership team developing novel  cel l  and R NA based cancer medicines, which the Board bel ieved were
complementary to the Company's  existing pre-cl inical  drug development bus iness .
 
To fund the future pre-cl inical  drug development work of O ncogeni  and the working capital  requirements  of the
enlarged Group, the Company also announced a placing of 7,249,998 new ordinary shares  to new and exis�ng
investors  to ra ise funds  of £1.015 mi l l ion.



investors  to ra ise funds  of £1.015 mi l l ion.
 
The transac�on and placing were successful ly completed on 16 September 2022 with 57,249,998 new ordinary
shares  being issued and admiHed to the O fficial  List of the UK LA by way of a  standard l i s�ng under Chapter 14 of
the UK LA's  Lis�ng Rules  and to trading on the London Stock Exchange's main market for l i s ted securi�es  on that
date.
 
O n comple�on of the transac�on P rofessor S i r Mar�n Evans, Ajan Reginald and Dr Darrin Dis ley (a l l  di rectors  of
Oncogeni) were appointed to the Board of the Company.
 
Post-acquis i�on of O ncogeni  the Company was focused on integra�ng the O ncogeni  bus iness  into the exis�ng
business  and progress ing development of the enlarged pre-cl inical  drug portfol io.
 
Events since the year end
O n 20 February 2023 the Company announced that i t had s igned an exclus ive l icence and royalty agreement, for the
field of medical  diagnos�cs  only, with a  leading interna�onal  diagnos�cs  company, Randox Laboratories  Ltd
("Randox"), in rela�on to i ts  Midkine an�body por;ol io.  Randox and Roquefort Therapeu�cs  wi l l  now engage in
col labora�ve research programs to develop new cancer diagnos�cs  that wi l l  iden�fy pa�ents  treatable with the
Company's  Midkine therapeutics .
 
O n 8 March 2023 the Company announced that i t had successful ly developed a new novel  pla;orm of an�-cancer
mRNA therapeutics .
 
Financial review
Results for the year to 31 December 2022
The Consol idated Statement of Comprehensive I ncome for the year shows a loss  of £1,615,417 (2021: £917,433) and
the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i�on at 31 December 2022 shows net assets  of £7,206,638 (2021:
£4,082,606) for the Group.
 
The total  comprehensive loss  for the year of £1,630,406 (2021: loss  of £916,809) occurred as  a  result of on-going
research and development costs , and administra�ve expenses  required to operate the Company, and costs  in
relation to the completion of the acquis i tion of Oncogeni .
 
Administra�ve expenses  increased to £1,306,561 (2021: £252,392) mainly due to Directors ' and employee costs
increas ing to £365,564 (2021: £59,607), consul�ng and profess ional  fees  increas ing to £209,768 (2021: £125,807),
the audit fee increas ing to £157,336 (2021: £22,000) and other expenditure (excluding audit fees) increas ing to
£527,520 (2021: £13,818) - reflec�ng an increase in staff and opera�onal  ac�vi�es  during the year.  Research and
development expenditure increased to £319,315 (2021: £698) as  the Group carried out external  studies  with
Murdoch Univers i ty for the Midkine R NA ol igonucleo�de pre-cl inical  program in the first hal f of the year and
commenced internal  and external  studies  on the other programs later in the year.  
 
The intangible assets  of the Group increased to £5,343,506 (2021: £1,481,530) as  a  result of accoun�ng for the fa ir
value of shares  issued for the acquis i tion of Oncogeni  Limited (Refer to note 12).
 
O ther receivables  reduced s ignificantly to £45,154 (2021: £2,135,031) due to the receipt of outstanding placing
proceeds of £2,106,202 in January 2022.
 
Cash flow
Net cash inflow for the Group for 2022 was £1,421,258 (2021: £900,335).
 
Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es  for 2022 decreased to £122,468 (2021: £606,226) reflec�ng the acquis i�on of
O ncogeni  Limited in 2022 for equity cons idera�on and associated costs , compared with the acquis i�on of Lyramid
Pty Ltd in 2021 for a  mixture of cash cons ideration, equity cons ideration and associated costs .
 
Net flows from financing ac�vi�es  for 2022 was £3,121,202 reflec�ng the receipt of proceeds from an equity
placement undertaken in December 2021 of £2,106,202 and an equity placement in September 2022 rais ing
£1,014,999. This  compares  to the net flows from financing ac�vi�es  for 2021 of £2,023,393 reflec�ng, aGer costs  of
£159,405, pre-I P O  equity placements  in 2020 rais ing £124,000, the I P O  equity placement in March 2021 rais ing
£1,000,000, the exercise of broker warrants  for £15,000, an equity placement in August 2021 rais ing £150,000 and
an equity placement in December 2021 rais ing £3,000,000 (less  proceeds outstanding and received in early 2022 of
£2,106,202).
 
Closing cash
As at 31 December 2022, the Group held £2,322,974 (2021: £899,721) of cash.
 
Key Performance Indicators
The Company's  non-financial  K P I s  are the development of new novel  an�-cancer therapeu�cs, the registra�on of
new patents  to protect the cl inical  advancements  in an�-cancer therapeu�cs  being achieved during the pre-
cl inical  s tages  of drug discovery and entering into l icencing deals  with other companies .
 
The Company's  financial  KPIs  are the Company's  cash runway and budgeted R&D spend compared to actuals .
 
Position of Company's Business 
 
At the year end
At the year end the Company's  Statement of F inancial  Pos i�on shows net assets  total l ing £7,481,382 (2021:
£4,014,683). The Company's  current cash resources are sufficient to cover the Company's  plans  to complete pre-
cl inical  development ac�vi�es  and submit appl ica�ons to commence cl inical  tria ls  for a l l  of the Company's  pre-
cl inical  programs. However, the abi l i ty of the Company to con�nue as  a  going concern, for at least 12 months  from
the date of s igning this  Annual  Report, i s  dependent upon the comple�on of l icencing deals  that include upfront
considera�on and/or the successful  future rais ing of further capital , which the Directors  are confident of achieving.
There can be no assurance that these plans  wi l l  be successful  and so there is  a  materia l  uncertainty over the
Company's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern.
 
Environmental matters
The Board contains  personnel  with a  good history of running bus inesses  that have been compl iant with a l l  relevant
laws and regulations  and there have been no instances  of non-compl iance in respect of environmental  matters .
 
Employee information
As at the date of this  report, the Company has  an Execu�ve Chairman, two Execu�ve Directors  and four Non-
Execu�ve Directors . The Company is  commiHed to gender equal i ty and, as  future roles  are iden�fied, a  wide-ranging
search would be completed with the most appropriate individual  being appointed i rrespective of gender.
 
A spl i t of our employees  and directors  by gender at the date of this  report, i s  shown below:

Male Female

Directors 6 1



Directors 6 1

Employees - 2

Total employees (including directors) 6 3

 
Social/Community/Human rights matters
The Company ensures  that employment prac�ces  take into account the necessary divers i ty requirements  and
compl iance with a l l  employment laws. The Board has  experience in deal ing with such issues  and sufficient tra ining
and qual i fications  to ensure they meet a l l  requirements .
 
Anti-corruption and anti-bribery policy
The government of the United K ingdom has  issued guidel ines  seXng out appropriate procedures  for companies  to
fol low to ensure that they are compl iant with the UK  Bribery Act 2010. The Company has  conducted a review into i ts
opera�onal  procedures  to cons ider the impact of the Bribery Act 2010 and the Board has  adopted an an�-
corruption and anti -bribery pol icy.
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Group operates  in an uncertain environment and is  subject to a  number of risk factors . The Directors  cons ider
the fol lowing risk factors  are of par�cular relevance to the Group's  ac�vi�es  a l though i t should be noted that this
l i s t i s  not exhaustive and that other risk factors  not presently known or currently deemed immateria l  may apply.
 
Issue Risk/Uncertainty Mitigation
The Group is a pre-revenue business
and there is no guarantee that it will
generate significant or any revenue in
the near future

 

The  ge ne ra ti on of re ve nue s  i s
di ffi cul t to pre di ct a nd the re  i s  no
gua ra nte e  tha t the  Group wi l l
ge ne ra te  s i gni fi ca nt or a ny
re ve nue s  i n the  fore s e e a bl e
future .

The  Group wi l l  fa ce  ri s ks
fre que ntl y e ncounte re d by pre -
re ve nue  bus i ne s s e s  l ooki ng to
bri ng ne w products  a nd de vi ce s  to
the  ma rke t. The re  i s  a l s o no
gua ra nte e  tha t the  i nte l l e ctua l
prope rty he l d wi l l  ul ti ma te l y re s ul t
i n a  comme rci a l l y vi a bl e  product. I t
i s  a l s o pos s i bl e  tha t te chni ca l
a nd/or re gul a tory hurdl e s  coul d
l e ngthe n the  ti me  re qui re d for the
de l i ve ry of s uch a  te s ti ng product.

The  Group's  future  growth wi l l  a l s o
de pe nd on i ts  a bi l i ty to s e cure
comme rci a l i s a ti on pa rtne rs hi ps  on
a ppropri a te  te rms , to ma na ge
growth a nd to e xpa nd a nd i mprove
ope ra ti ona l , fi na nci a l  a nd
ma na ge me nt i nforma ti on, qua l i ty
control  s ys te ms  a nd i ts
comme rci a l i s a ti on functi on on a
ti me l y ba s i s , whi l s t a t the  s a me
ti me  ma i nta i ni ng e ffe cti ve  cos t
control s .

The  Di re ctors  ha ve  a ppoi nte d a
CEO to a cti ve l y ma na ge  the
comme rci a l  a cti vi ti e s  of the  Group
a s  i t de ve l ops .

The  CEO a nd the  Di re ctors  wi l l
ove rs e e  the  progre s s  of the
de ve l opme nt of the  Group's
re s e a rch progra ms  a nd a s s oci a te d
te chnol ogi e s  a nd wi l l  e ns ure
fundi ng i s  i n pl a ce  to s upport the
ne ce s s a ry tri a l s  a nd furthe r
de ve l opme nt s te ps  a s  the s e  come
on s tre a m.

 

Research and development risks carry
technical risks, including the programs
undertaken by the Group and there is
no guarantee that these technical risks
can be effectively overcome, and a
successful, approved product can be
developed

 

Al l  the ra pe uti c re s e a rch a nd
de ve l opme nt progra ms  ca rry
te chni ca l  ri s ks , i ncl udi ng the
progra ms  unde rta ke n by the  Group.
The s e  ri s ks  i ncl ude : thos e
a s s oci a te d wi th de l a ys  i n
de ve l opme nt of e ffe cti ve  a nd
pote nt drugs ; fa i l ure  of de l i ve ry by
thi rd pa rty s uppl i e rs  of re s e a rch
s e rvi ce s  or ma te ri a l s  e s s e nti a l  to
the  progra ms ; a nd outcome s  of
cl i ni ca l  te s ti ng. The re  i s  no
gua ra nte e  tha t the s e  te chni ca l
ri s ks  ca n be  e ffe cti ve l y ove rcome ,
a nd a  s ucce s s ful , a pprove d product
ca n be  de ve l ope d. Furthe rmore ,
the  Group i s  purs ui ng re l a ti ve l y
ne w drug cl a s s e s . Whi l s t s e ve ra l
e xa mpl e s  of a pprove d drugs  now
e xi s t i n the s e  cl a s s e s , a s  ye t no
s uch drug ha s  be e n de ve l ope d for
the  Group's  ta rge ts . The re  i s  a  ri s k
tha t the s e  nove l  cl a s s e s  of drugs
ma y not be  a n e ffe cti ve  wa y of
modul a ti ng the  ta rge t's  e xpre s s i on
to e xe rt a ppropri a te  cl i ni ca l
be ne fi t i n the  ta rge t condi ti ons .

The  Di re ctors  wi l l  e nga ge  i n
conti nuous  di a l ogue  wi th the
Chi e f Sci e nti fi c Offi ce r to cri ti ca l l y
re vi e w the  te chni ca l  ri s ks . The
Boa rd ha s  e s ta bl i s he d a  Sci e nti fi c
Advi s ory Boa rd to s upport the m i n
thi s  re vi e w proce s s .

 

Biotechnology programs are subject to
the most stringent regulatory
oversight by various government
agencies and ethics committees and
there is no guarantee that the
proposed development work will result
in an efficacious treatment, or even if
it does, that the drug will be approved
by regulatory authorities

Bi ote chnol ogy progra ms  a re
s ubje ct to the  mos t s tri nge nt
re gul a tory ove rs i ght by va ri ous
gove rnme nt a ge nci e s  a nd e thi cs
commi tte e s . Ke y re gul a tory focus
a re a s  a re  s a fe ty a nd e ffi ca cy, a nd
future  cl i ni ca l  tri a l s  conducte d by
the  Group ma y be  s us pe nde d or
a ba ndone d e nti re l y i n the  e ve nt
tha t re gul a tory a ge nci e s  cons i de r
tha t conti nua ti on of the s e  tri a l s
coul d e xpos e  pa rti ci pa nts  to undue
ri s ks . Be fore  obta i ni ng re gul a tory
a pprova l  of a  product for a  ta rge t

The  Sci e nti fi c Advi s ory Boa rd wi l l
be  cri ti ca l  i n s upporti ng the  Boa rd
i n unde rs ta ndi ng a nd mi ti ga ti ng
the s e  ri s ks . Eve n s o, a  s udde n
unfore s e e n cha nge  i n the
re gul a ti ons  coul d ha ve  a  ma te ri a l
a dve rs e  i mpa ct on the
de ve l opme nt progra m.

The  Group ca nnot gua ra nte e  tha t
the  propos e d de ve l opme nt work
wi l l  re s ul t i n a n e ffi ca ci ous
tre a tme nt, or e ve n i f i t doe s , tha t
the  drug wi l l  be  a pprove d by



a pprova l  of a  product for a  ta rge t
i ndi ca ti on, s ubs ta nti a l  e vi de nce
mus t be  ga the re d i n control l e d
cl i ni ca l  tri a l s  tha t the  product
ca ndi da te  i s  s a fe  a nd e ffe cti ve  for
us e  for tha t cl i ni ca l  s e tti ng. Si mi l a r
a pprova l s  mus t be  obta i ne d from
the  re l e va nt re gul a tory a uthori ti e s
i n e a ch country i n whi ch the
product ma y be  ma de  a va i l a bl e ,
i ncl udi ng Aus tra l i a , US a nd the  EU.

the  drug wi l l  be  a pprove d by
re gul a tory a uthori ti e s .

Even where the Group is successful in
terms of technical and regulatory
approvals, there is no guarantee it will
be successful in securing an
appropriate licensing deal or in
achieving alternative means of
commercialising its drugs

 

The re  ma y be  othe r compa ni e s
de ve l opi ng e ffe cti ve  tre a tme nts  for
the  s a me  condi ti ons  a s  the  Group,
whi ch coul d ma ke  comme rci a l i s i ng
a ny drug more  di ffi cul t. The
re s e a rch a nd de ve l opme nt
progra ms  pl a nne d a re  e xpe cte d to
ta ke  s e ve ra l  ye a rs  be fore  a ny drug
mi ght be  re a dy a nd the  ma rke t for
s uch drugs  ma y contra ct
s i gni fi ca ntl y or be come  too
compe ti ti ve  for a n e conomi ca l l y
vi a bl e  drug l a unch. In a ddi ti on,
e ve n pos t re gul a tory a pprova l , a ny
drug ma y ne e d to be  wi thdra wn
from the  ma rke t, a s  we l l  a s  e xpos e
the  Group to cl a i ms  for
compe ns a ti on a s  a  re s ul t of
s e ri ous  a dve rs e  e ve nts  a s s oci a te d
wi th the  tre a tme nt. Hi s tori ca l l y,
ve ry fe w drugs  ma ke  i t from
di s cove ry to re gul a tory a pprova l
a nd comme rci a l i s a ti on.

Duri ng 2022, the  Boa rd a ppoi nte d
ne w Di re ctors , s e ni or
ma na ge me nt a nd a dvi s ors  wi th
a ppropri a te  e xpe ri e nce  a nd
e xpe rti s e  to gi ve  the  Group the
be s t cha nce  of comme rci a l i s i ng
a ny s ucce s s ful  drug i n the  future .

 

Existing patents and licences are
subject to the terms and conditions of
the relevant licence agreement which
could be terminated for non-
compliance with the terms of such
licence agreement

The  Group's  s ubs i di a ry Lyra mi d Pty
Ltd ope ra te s  i ts  Mi dki ne  a nti body
re s e a rch a nd de ve l opme nt
progra ms  unde r a  worl dwi de ,
l i ce nce  a gre e me nt wi th Ana ge ni cs
Ltd, the  owne r of the  Mi dki ne
pa te nts . Si mi l a rl y, the  Group's
s ubs i di a ry Oncoge ni  Ltd ope ra te s
i ts  MK Ce l l  a nd s i RNA progra ms
unde r worl dwi de  l i ce nci ng
a gre e me nts  wi th Ce l l  The ra py
Li mi te d a nd Si rna  Li mi te d
re s pe cti ve l y. Whi l s t the  Group i s
curre ntl y compl i a nt, the re  i s  a  ri s k
tha t the  ri ghts  to the s e  pa te nts , a s
de fi ne d by the  re l e va nt l i ce nce
a gre e me nt, wi l l  be  forfe i te d by
vi rtue  of e i the r pa rty fa i l i ng to
me e t l i ce nce  condi ti ons .

The  CEO ha s  a  good unde rs ta ndi ng
of the  de ta i l s  of the  l i ce nce
a gre e me nts  a nd the  Group's
obl i ga ti ons  unde r the m. Shoul d
a ny a re a s  of conce rn a ri s e , l e ga l
couns e l  wi l l  be  s ought be fore
furthe r s te ps  a re  ta ke n.

 

The Group's ability to compete will
depend in part, upon the successful
protection of its intellectual property,
in particular its patents and know-how

 

The  Group's  a bi l i ty to compe te  wi l l
de pe nd i n pa rt, upon the
s ucce s s ful  prote cti on of i ts
i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty, i n pa rti cul a r
i ts  Pa te nts  Ri ghts  a nd Know-How.
Fi l i ng, pros e cuti ng a nd de fe ndi ng
pa te nts  i n a l l  countri e s  throughout
the  worl d woul d be  prohi bi ti ve l y
e xpe ns i ve . I t i s  pos s i bl e  tha t
compe ti tors  wi l l  us e  the
te chnol ogi e s  i n juri s di cti ons  whe re
the  Group ha s  not re gi s te re d
pa te nts .

Any s uch cl a i ms  a re  l i ke l y to be
e xpe ns i ve  to de fe nd, a nd the  othe r
l i ti ga ti ng pa rti e s  ma y be  a bl e  to
s us ta i n the  cos ts  of compl e x
pa te nt l i ti ga ti on more  e ffe cti ve l y
tha n the  Group ca n, be ca us e  the y
ha ve  s ubs ta nti a l l y gre a te r
re s ource s . More ove r, e ve n i f the
Group i s  s ucce s s ful  i n de fe ndi ng
a ny i nfri nge me nt proce e di ngs , i t
ma y i ncur s ubs ta nti a l  cos ts  a nd
di ve rt ma na ge me nt's  ti me  a nd
a tte nti on i n doi ng s o, whi ch ma y
ha ve  a  ma te ri a l  a dve rs e  e ffe ct on
the  Group's  bus i ne s s , fi na nci a l
condi ti on, ca pi ta l  re s ource s ,
re s ul ts  a nd/or future  ope ra ti ons .
Furthe r, di s pute s  ca n ofte n l a s t for
a  numbe r of ye a rs , a nd ca n be
s ubje ct to l e ngthy a ppe a l s
proce s s e s  be fore  a ny fi na l
re s ol uti on i s  a chi e ve d through the
va ri ous  di ffe re nt courts  a nd/or
tri buna l s . Furthe rmore , i t ca nnot
be  gua ra nte e d tha t a  court wi l l  not

The  Group s e e ks  to prote ct i ts
i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty through the
fi l i ng of pa te nt a ppl i ca ti ons , a s
we l l  a s  robus t confi de nti a l i ty
obl i ga ti ons  on i ts  e mpl oye e s .

The  Boa rd i nte nds  to de fe nd the
Group's  i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty
vi gorous l y, whe re  ne ce s s a ry
through l i ti ga ti on a nd othe r
me a ns .
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be  gua ra nte e d tha t a  court wi l l  not
rul e  a ga i ns t the  Group we re  s uch
cl a i ms  to be  de fe nde d.

De s pi te  the s e  pre ca uti ons  tha t
ma y be  ta ke n by the  Group to
prote ct i ts  i nte l l e ctua l  te chnol ogy
a nd products , una uthori s e d thi rd
pa rti e s  ma y a tte mpt to copy, or
obta i n a nd us e  i ts  te chnol ogy a nd
products . A thi rd pa rty ma y i nfri nge
upon the  Group's  i nte l l e ctua l
prope rty, re l e a s e  i nforma ti on
cons i de re d confi de nti a l  a bout the
Group's  i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty
a nd/or cl a i m te chnol ogy tha t i s
re gi s te re d to the  Group. In
a ddi ti on, the  Group ma y fa i l  to
di s cove r i nfri nge me nt of i ts
i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty, a nd/or a ny
s te ps  ta ke n or tha t wi l l  be  ta ke n by
i t ma y not be  s uffi ci e nt to prote ct
i ts  i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty ri ghts  or
pre ve nt othe rs  from s e e ki ng to
i nva l i da te  i ts  i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty
(for e xa mpl e , i n re s pons e  to a
cl a i m for i nfri nge me nt or whe re  a n
a tte mpt i s  ma de  to "cl e a r a  pa th"
for a  ne w compe ti ng product) or
bl ock s a l e s  of i ts  products  by
a l l e gi ng a  bre a ch of the i r
i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty. Thi rd pa rti e s
ca n bri ng ma te ri a l  a nd a rgume nts
whi ch the  pa te nt offi ce  gra nti ng
the  pa te nt ma y not ha ve  s e e n a t
the  ti me  of gra nti ng the  pa te nt.
The re fore , whi l s t a  pa te nt ma y be
gra nte d to the  Group i t coul d i n the
future  be  found by a  court of l a w or
by a  pa te nt offi ce  to be  i nva l i d or
une nforce a bl e  or i n ne e d of furthe r
re s tri cti on. As  a  re s ul t of a  va l i di ty
cha l l e nge , a  pa te nt ma y be
a me nde d s o a s  to na rrow i ts  s cope
to a n e xte nt tha t i t ma y be  more
di ffi cul t to re s tri ct a cti vi ti e s  of
compe ti tors . Appl i ca ti ons  fi l e d by
the  Group i n re s pe ct of ne w
pa te nts  a nd tra de ma rks  ma y a l s o
not be  gra nte d or, i f gra nte d, ma y
s ti l l  be  s ubje ct to oppos i ti on. In
a ddi ti on, the re  ca n be  no
gua ra nte e  tha t the  pa te nts  or
tra de ma rks  wi l l  be  gra nte d on a
ti me l y ba s i s . Subje ct to ce rta i n
ti me  l i mi ts , the re  ma y, i n ce rta i n
ci rcums ta nce s , a l s o be  cl a i ms  to
e nti tl e me nt, a nd/or compe ns a ti on
a ri s i ng from contri buti ons  ma de , to
gra nte d pa te nts  by thos e  who ha ve
a s s i s te d wi th the  re l e va nt re s e a rch
or proje ct.

In the  e ve nt tha t l i ti ga ti on i s
ne ce s s a ry i n the  future  i n orde r to
e nforce  the  Group's  i nte l l e ctua l
prope rty ri ghts , de te rmi ne  the
s cope  a nd va l i di ty of propri e ta ry
ri ghts  of othe r compa ni e s , a nd/or
de fe nd cl a i ms  of i nfri nge me nt or
i nva l i di ty, i t coul d re qui re  the
Group to commi t s i gni fi ca nt
re s ource  to purs ue  the  prote cti on
of i ts  i nte l l e ctua l  prope rty a nd
the re  i s  no gua ra nte e  tha t the
re s ul t of s uch l i ti ga ti on woul d
re s ul t i n a  fa voura bl e  outcome  to
the  Group, or the  da ma ge s  or othe r
re me di e s  a wa rde d, i f a ny, ma y not
be  comme rci a l l y me a ni ngful  or
re pre s e nt a cce pta bl e
compe ns a ti on i n re s pe ct to the
i nfri nge me nt.

The  Group i s  not curre ntl y a wa re  of
a ny s uch a cti ve  or pe ndi ng
l i ti ga ti on ri s k.

 

Competition and the pace of
development in the biotechnology
sector could lead to the market
participants             creating
approaches, products and services
equivalent or superior to the diagnostic
testing products and services than

The  Group     ope ra te s  wi thi n  the
bi ote chnol ogy s e ctor, a  compl e x
a re a  of the  he a l thca re  i ndus try.
Ra pi d s ci e nti fi c a nd te chnol ogi ca l
cha nge  wi thi n the  bi ote chnol ogy
s e ctor coul d l e a d to othe r ma rke t
pa rti ci pa nts  cre a ti ng a pproa che s ,

The  Boa rd wi l l  be  moni tori ng the
s pe e d a nd output of the  progra ms
cl os e l y a nd cha l l e ngi ng whe re  i t
be l i e ve s  thi ngs  coul d be  done
more  qui ckl y.

The  Boa rd i s  a wa re  of the
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testing products and services than
those to be offered by the Group

 

pa rti ci pa nts  cre a ti ng a pproa che s ,
products  a nd s e rvi ce s  e qui va l e nt
or s upe ri or to the  di a gnos ti c
te s ti ng products  a nd s e rvi ce s  tha n
thos e  to be  offe re d by the  Group,
whi ch coul d a dve rs e l y a ffe ct the
Group's  pe rforma nce  a nd s ucce s s .
Be tte r re s ource d compe ti tors  ma y
be  a bl e  to de vote  more  ti me  a nd
ca pi ta l  towa rds  the  re s e a rch a nd
de ve l opme nt proce s s , whi ch, i n
turn, coul d l e a d to s ci e nti fi c a nd/or
te chnol ogi ca l  bre a kthroughs  tha t
ma y ma te ri a l l y a l te r the  outl ook or
focus  for ma rke ts  i n whi ch the
Group wi l l  ope ra te .

I f the  Group i s  una bl e  to ke e p pa ce
wi th the  cha nge s  i n the
bi ote chnol ogy s e ctor a nd i n the
wi de r he a l thca re  i ndus try, the
de ma nd for i ts  pl a tforms  a nd
a s s oci a te d products  a nd s e rvi ce s
coul d fa l l , whi ch ma y ha ve  a
ma te ri a l  a dve rs e  e ffe ct on the
Group's  bus i ne s s , fi na nci a l
condi ti on, ca pi ta l  re s ource s ,
re s ul ts  a nd/or future  ope ra ti ons .
In a ddi ti on, ce rta i n of the  Group's
compe ti tors  ma y ha ve  s i gni fi ca ntl y
gre a te r fi na nci a l  a nd huma n
re s ource  ca pa ci ty a nd, a s  s uch,
be tte r ma nufa cturi ng ca pa bi l i ty or
s a l e s  a nd ma rke ti ng e xpe rti s e .
Ne w compa ni e s  wi th a l te rna ti ve
te chnol ogi e s  a nd products  ma y
a l s o e me rge .

The  Boa rd i s  a wa re  of the
pote nti a l  ne e d for furthe r fundi ng
a s  the  progra ms  de ve l op. Be i ng a
l i s te d compa ny gi ve s  the  Group
the  a bi l i ty to ra i s e  more  funds  i n
the  future  s houl d the y be
re qui re d.

 

The successful operation of the
Group will depend partly upon the
performance and expertise of its
current and future management
and employees
 

The successful operation of the
Group will depend partly upon the
performance and expertise of its
current and future management
and employees. The loss of the
services of certain of these
members of the Group's key
management, including Ajan
Reginald, the CEO, Professor Sir
Martin Evans, the Chief Scientific
Officer, and Dr Graham Robertson,
the Vice President of Drug
Discovery or the inability to identify,
attract and retain a sufficient
number of suitably skilled and
qualified employees may have a
material adverse effect on the
Group. Any future expansion of the
Group may require considerable
management time which may in
turn inhibit management's ability to
conduct the day to day business of
the Group.

The  Group offe rs  i nce nti ve s  to
Di re ctors  a nd e mpl oye e s  through
s ha re  wa rra nts , whi ch ma ke s  the m
l i nke d to the  l ong-te rm s ucce s s  of
the  bus i ne s s .
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Composition of the Board
A ful l  analys is  of the Board, i ts  function, composition and pol icies , i s  included in the Governance Report.
 
Capital structure
The Company's  capital  cons ists  of ordinary shares  which rank pari passu in a l l  respects  which are traded on the
Standard segment of the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange. There are no restric�ons on the transfer of
securi ties  in the Company or restrictions  on voting rights  and none of the Company's  shares  are owned or control led
by employee share schemes.  There are no arrangements  in place between shareholders  that are known to the
Company that may restrict vo�ng rights ,  restrict the transfer of securi�es, result in the appointment or replacement
of Directors , amend the Company's  Ar�cles  of Associa�on or restrict the powers  of the Company's  Directors ,
including in rela�on to the issuing or buying back by the Company of i ts  shares  or any s ignificant agreements  to
which the Company is  a  party that take effect aGer or terminate upon, a  change of control  of the Company fol lowing
a takeover bid or arrangements  between the Company and i ts  D irectors  or employees  providing for compensa�on
for loss  of office or employment (whether through res igna�on, purported redundancy or otherwise) that may occur
because of a  takeover bid.
 
Approved by the Board on 4 June 2023
Stephen West, Executive Chairman
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
  Year ended

31 December
2022

Period ended
31 December

2021
Note   

    
Revenue 7 - 719
Other income  - 130
Cost of goods sold  -  (10,069)
Administrative expenses 9 (1,306,561) (252,392)
Costs  associated with the IPO 9 - (182,053)
Share based payments  - di rectors  and 9 (8,427) (248,326)



Share based payments  - di rectors  and
senior managers

9 (8,427) (248,326)

Costs  associated with acquis i tion of
subs idiary

9 - (224,744)

Research and development expenditure 9 (319,315) (698)
    
Operating loss & loss before taxation  (1,634,303) (917,433)
    
Taxation 10 18,886 -
    
Loss for the period  (1,615,417) (917,433)
    
Other comprehensive (loss) income 8 (14,989) 624
    
Total comprehensive loss for the period
attributable to equity
holders of the parent

 (1,630,406) (916,809)

    
Loss  per share (bas ic and di luted)
attributable to the equity holders
(pence)

11 (1.56) (3.71)

   
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
  

Note  

As at
31 December

2022
£

Restated As at 31
December 2021

£

Assets      
Non-current assets      
Intangible assets  12  5,343,505 1,481,530

Total non-current assets    5,343,505 1,481,530
      
Current assets                                                         
Trade and other receivables  14  101,738 2,178,783
Cash and cash equivalents   15  2,322,974 899,721
Total current assets    2,424,712 3,078,504

Total assets    7,768,217 4,560,034
      
Equity and liabilities      

Equity attributable to shareholders      
Share capital  18  1,291,500 719,000
Share premium  18  4,403,094 3,460,595
Share based payments  reserve  19  375,135 366,708
Merger rel ief reserve 1 20  3,700,000 450,000
Retained defici t    (2,548,728) (914,321)
Currency trans lation reserve    (14,365) 624
Total equity    7,206,636 4,082,606

Liabilities      

Non-Current liabilities      
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties  17  281,911 281,911
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables  16  279,670 195,517
Total liabilities

   561,581 477,428

Total equity and liabilities    7,768,217 4,560,034
  

1 In the prior period Merger relief reserve was not applied for the considera�on shares issued for the acquisi�on of Lyramid, in error.  £450,000
previously recorded as share premium has been reclassified into a merger relief reserve in accordance with the UK Companies Act. There has been no
impact to the prior period's consolidated statement of comprehensive income or net asset position.                                                             
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note

As at 31
December

2022
£

Restated As at
31 December

 2021
£

Assets    

Non-current assets   

Investments 13 4,874,774 1,015,695
Intercompany receivables 451,622 132,800
Total non-current assets 5,326,396 1,148,495
 
Current assets                                              
Trade and other receivables 14 64,309 2,136,224
Cash and cash equivalents  15 2,274,478 857,614
Total current assets 2,338,787 2,993,838

Total assets    7,665,183 4,142,333
      



      
Equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to shareholders      
Share capital 18 1,291,500 719,000
Share premium 18 4,403,094 3,460,595
Share based payments  reserve 19 375,135 366,708
Merger rel ief reserve 1 20 3,700,000 450,000
Retained defici t (2,288,350) (981,620)
Total equity    7,481,379 4,014,683

Liabilities

 
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 183,804 127,650
Total liabilities 183,804

 
127,650

Total equity and liabilities 7,665,183 4,142,333
1- In the prior period Merger relief reserve was not applied for the consideration shares issued for the acquisition of Lyramid, in error.  £450,000 previously recorded as share
premium has been reclassified into a merger relief reserve in accordance with the UK Companies Act. There has been no impact to the prior period's consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or net asset position.
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Ordinary
Share

capital
Share

Premium

Share
Based

Payment
Reserve

Merger
relief
reserve

 
Retained
earnings

Translation
Reserve

 
Total equity

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

On Incorporation - - - - 3,112 - 3,112

Loss for the period - - - - (917,433) - (917,433)

Exchange differences - - - - - 624 624

Total comprehensive
income / (loss) for the
period - - -

-

(914,321) 624 (913,697)
Transactions with owners
Ordinary Shares issued
(restated) 1

 
719,000

 
3,620,000

 
- 450,000

 
- -

 
4,789,000

Share issue costs - (159,405) - - - - (159,405)

Warrants charge - - 366,708 - - - 366,708
Total transactions with
owners (restated) 719,000 3,460,595 366,708 450,000 - - 4,996,303
As at 31 December 2021
(restated) 719,000 3,460,595 366,708 450,000 (914,321) 624 4,082,606

Loss for the period - - -
-

(1,615,417) - (1,615,417)

Exchange differences - - -
-

- (14,989) (14,989)
Total comprehensive
income / (loss) for the
year - - -

 

(1,615,417) (14,989) (1,630,406)
Transactions with owners
 
Ordinary shares issued 572,500 942,499 - 3,250,000 - - 4,764,999
Stamp duty on share
issue (18,990)  (18,990)

Warrants charge - - 8,427 - - - 8,427

Total transactions with
owners 572,500 942,499

 
 

8,427 3,250,000 (18,990) - 4,754,436

As at 31 December 2022 1,291,500 4,403,094

 
 

375,135 3,700,000 (2,548,728) (14,365) 7,206,636
1 In the prior period Merger relief reserve was not applied for the consideration shares issued for the acquisition of Lyramid, in error.  £450,000 previously recorded as share
premium has been reclassified into a merger relief reserve in accordance with the UK Companies Act. There has been no impact to the prior period's consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or net asset position.
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

 
 

Ordinary
Share

capital
Share

Premium

Merger
relief

reserve

Share
Based

Payment
Reserves

 
Retained
earnings

 
Total equity

£ £ £ £ £ £

On Incorpora ti on - - - - -

Los s  for the
pe ri od - - - (981,620) (981,620)
Total
comprehensive loss
for the period - - - (981,620) (981,620)
Transactions with
owners
Ordi na ry Sha re s
i s s ue d
(re s ta te d)1 719,000 3,620,000 450,000 - - 4,789,000

-



Sha re  i s s ue  cos ts - (159,405)
-

- - (159,405)

Wa rra nts  i s s ue d - -
-

366,708 - 366,708
Tota l
tra ns a cti ons  wi th
owne rs  (re s ta te d) 719,000 3,460,595 450,000 366,708 - 4,996,303
As at 31 December
2021 (restated) 719,000 3,460,595 450,000 366,708 (981,620) 4,014,683

Los s  for the  ye a r - - - - (1,287,740) (1,287,740)
Total loss for the
year - - - - (1,287,740) (1,287,740)
Transactions with
owners
Ordi na ry Sha re s
i s s ue d

 
 

572,500

 
 

942,499 3,250,000 - - 4,764,999
Sta mp duty on
s ha re  i s s ue    (18,990) (18,990)

Wa rra nts  i s s ue d - - - 8,427 - 8,427
Tota l
tra ns a cti ons  wi th
owne rs 572,500 942,499 3,250,000 8,427 (18,990) 4,754,436
As at 31 December
2022 1,291,500 4,403,094 3,700,000 375,135 (2,288,350) 7,481,379

 
 

Ordinary
Share

capital
Share

Premium

Merger
relief

reserve

Share
Based

Payment
Reserves

 
Retained
earnings

 
Total equity

1 In the prior period Merger relief reserve was not applied for the consideration shares issued for the acquisition of Lyramid, in error.  £450,000 previously recorded as share
premium has been reclassified into a merger relief reserve in accordance with the UK Companies Act. There has been no impact to the prior period's consolidated statement of
comprehensive income or net asset position.
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Note

Year ended 31 December
2022

Restated Period ended
31 December 2021

 £ £

Cash flow from operating activities    

Loss  before income tax
 

(1,634,303)                 (996,068)

Adjustments for:
 

  

Amortisation
 

- -

Foreign Exchange
 

(9,918) 765

Non-cash adjustment
 

- (2,602)

Share based payment
19

8,427 366,708

Taxation
 

18,886 -

Changes in working capital:
 

  

Increase in trade and other receivables2  
(20,318) (24,434)

Increase in trade and other payables  59,750 129,525
Decrease in Inventory  - 9,273

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,577,476) (516,833)
 

Cash flow from Investing activities
 

  
Acquis i tion of subs idiary, net of cash
acquired1

 

 

(103,478) (606,226)
Net Cash used in investing activities
 

 (103,478) (606,226)

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares
1,2 18 3,121,202 2,182,798
Share issue costs 18 (18,990) (159,405)

Net cash from financing activities  3,102,212 2,023,393
    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,421,258 900,335
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning
of the period

 
899,721 -

Foreign exchange impact on cash  1,995 (614)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period

15
2,322,974

 
899,721

    
1 An error was identified in the prior year's cash flow statement. The error pertains to £500,000 of consideration shares issued for the acquisition of Lyramid Pty Ltd, with no
cashflow, that was incorrectly included in these line items. This was incorrectly considered as cash inflow from 'Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares' and cash outflow
for 'Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired'. There is no impact on the company and consolidated statement of comprehensive income or statement of financial
position.
2 An error was identified in the prior year's cash flow statement. The error pertains to £2,106,202 of proceeds from share issues which was recorded in 2021 but not
received until after period end.  As a result, the Group has restated the cash flow from 'Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares' and 'Increase in trade and other
receivables'. The impact of the correction on the prior year's financial results is a decrease in the cash used in operating activities of £2,106,202 and a decrease in cash from
financing activities for the same amount. There is no impact on the consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income or statements of financial position.
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
 Year ended 31 December

2022
Unaudited period ended

31 December 20211



Note
 £ £

Cash flow from operating activities    

Loss  before income tax
 

(1,287,740) (981,620)

Adjustments for:
 

  

Non-cash adjustment
 

  

Share based payment
19

8,427 366,708

Changes in working capital:
 

  

Increase in trade and other receivables
 

(34,288) (30,222)
Increase in trade and other payables  56,153 127,649

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,257,448) (517,485)
 

Cash flow from Investing activities
 

  
Acquis i tion of subs idiary  (109,079) (648,496)
Borrowings  to subs idiaries  (318,822) -

Net Cash used in investing activities  (427,901) (648,496)
 
Cash flows from financing activities

 
  

Proceeds from the issue of ordinary shares 18 3,121,202 2,183,000
Share issue costs 18 (18,990) (159,405)

Net Cash from financing activities  3,102,212 2,023,595

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  1,416,863 857,614

Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning
of the period

 
857,614 -

Foreign exchange impact on cash  - -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
period

15
2,274,477 857,614

    
 
1 The Company Statement of Cashflow was incorrectly excluded from the 2021 Annual Report and as such the 2021 comparative amounts presented above have not been
audited.
The notes to the financial statements form an integral part of these financial statements.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.      General Information 
Roquefort Therapeu�cs  plc, the Group's  ul�mate parent company, was  incorporated on 17 August 2020 as  a  publ ic
company in England and Wales  with company number 12819145 under the Companies  Act. 
 
The address  of i ts  registered office is  85 Great Portland Street, Fi rst Floor, London W1W 7LT, United Kingdom.
 
The principal  ac�vity of the Company is  to develop pre-cl inical  next genera�on medicines  focused on hard to treat
cancers .
 
The Company l i s ted on the London Stock Exchange ("LSE") on 22 March 2021.
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  of the Group have been prepared in accordance with UK  adopted
International  Accounting Standards  as  issued by the UK Accounting Standards  Board (ASB). They have been prepared
under the assumption that the Group operates  on a going concern bas is .
 
The financial  informa�on set out in this  announcement does  not cons�tute the Group's  statutory accounts  for the
year ended 31 December 2022 or 31 December 2021. The auditors  reported on those accounts  and their report (i )
was  unqual i fied; (i i ) included references  to the fol lowing two matters  to which the auditors  drew attention by way of
emphasis  without qual i fying their report - materia l  uncertainty over going concern, as  disclosed by the Directors  in
note 3b; and that the Parent Company statement of cashflow for the year ended 31 December 2021 is  unaudited; and
(i i i ) did not contain statements  under sec�on 498 (2) or (3) of the Companies  Act 2006. The statutory accounts  for
the year ended 31 December 2022 have not yet been del ivered to the Registrar of Companies .
 
2.      New Standards and Interpretations
New and revised accoun�ng standards adopted for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not have any
material impact on the Group's accoun�ng policies. There are a number of standards, amendments to
standards, and interpreta�ons which have been issued by the IASB that are effec�ve in future
accoun�ng periods that the Group has decided not to adopt early. The following amendments are
effective for the period beginning 1 January 2023:
-     Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2);
-     Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8); and
-     Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabili�es arising from a Single Transac�on (Amendments to IAS

12).
 

The following amendments are effective for the period beginning 1 January 2024:
-    FRS 16 Leases (Amendment - Liability in a Sale and Leaseback);
-    IAS 1 Presenta�on of Financial Statements (Amendment - Classifica�on of Liabili�es as

Current or Non-current); and
-    IAS 1 Presenta�on of Financial Statements (Amendment - Non-current Liabili�es with

Covenants)



Covenants)
 
The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new accoun�ng standards and amendments. The
Group does not believe that the amendments to IAS 1 will have a significant impact on the classifica�on
of its liabili�es. The Group does not expect any other standards issued by the IASB, but not yet
effective, to have a material impact on the Group.
 
3.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The principal  accoun�ng pol icies  appl ied in the prepara�on of these financial  s tatements  are set out below. These
pol icies  have been cons istently appl ied to a l l  the period presented, unless  otherwise stated.
 
a)      Basis of Preparation

The financial  s tatements  of Roquefort Therapeu�cs  plc have been prepared in accordance with UK  adopted
International  Accounting Standards, and the Companies  Act 2006. 

 
The financial  s tatements  have been prepared on an accrual  bas is  and under the historical  cost convention.

 
b)     Going Concern

The Directors  have prepared financial  forecasts  to es�mate the l ikely cash requirements  of the Group over the
period to 30 June 2024, given i ts  stage of development and lack of recurring revenues. I n preparing these
financial  forecasts , the Directors  have made certain assump�ons with regards  to the �ming and amount of
future expenditure over which they have control . The Directors  have cons idered the sens i�vity of the financial
forecasts  to changes  in key assump�ons, including, among others , poten�al  cost overruns  within commiHed
spend and changes  in exchange rates .
 
The Group's  avai lable resources  are sufficient to cover the Group's  plans  to complete pre-cl inical  development
ac�vi�es  and submit appl ica�ons to commence cl inical  tria ls  during 2023, however, they are not sufficient to
cover exis�ng commiHed costs  and the costs  of planned ac�vi�es  for at least 12 months  from the date of
s igning these consol idated and company financial  s tatements .
 
The Directors  plan to raise further funds  during 2023 (ei ther through l icencing deals  and/or equity placements)
and have reasonable expecta�ons that sufficient cash wi l l  be raised to fund the planned opera�ons of the
Group for a  period of at least 12 months  from the date of approval  of these financial  s tatements . The funding
requirement indicates  that a  materia l  uncertainty exists  which may cast s ignificant doubt over the Group's  and
Company's  abi l i ty to con�nue as  a  going concern, and therefore i ts  abi l i ty to real ise i ts  assets  and discharge
its  l iabi l i ties  in the normal  course of bus iness .
 
AGer due cons idera�on of these forecasts , current cash resources, including the sens i�vity of key inputs , and
plans  to raise further funds, the Directors  cons ider that the Group wi l l  have adequate financial  resources  to
con�nue in opera�onal  existence for the foreseeable future (being a  period of at least 12 months  from the date
of this  report) and, for this  reason, the financial  s tatements  have been prepared on a going concern bas is . The
financial  s tatements  do not include the adjustments  that would be required should the going concern bas is  of
preparation no longer be appropriate.

 
c)      Basis of Consolidation

The Group's financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and its subsidiaries as
of 31 December 2022. Lyramid and Oncogeni have a repor�ng date at 31 December and 31 May
respectively.
 
All transac�ons and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolida�on,
including unrealised gains and losses on transac�ons between Group companies. Where
unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolida�on, the underlying asset is
also tested for impairment from a Group perspec�ve. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of its subsidiary have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.
 
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are recognised from the effec�ve date of acquisi�on, or up to the effec�ve date of disposal,
as applicable.
 
The Group aHributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of
the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.
 

d)     Business combinations
The Group appl ies  the acquis i�on method in accoun�ng for bus iness  combina�ons. The cons idera�on
transferred by the Group to obtain control  of a  subs idiary is  calculated as  the sum of the acquis i�on-date fa ir
values  of assets  transferred, l iabi l i�es  incurred and the equity interests  i ssued by the Group, which includes
the fa ir value of any asset or l iabi l i ty aris ing from a con�ngent cons idera�on arrangement. Acquis i�on costs
are expensed as  incurred.
 
Assets  acquired and l iabi l i ties  assumed are general ly measured at their acquis i tion-date fa ir values.

 
e)     Foreign Currency Translation
 

i)        Functional and Presentation Currency
The financial  s tatements  are presented in Pounds Sterl ing (GBP ), which is  the Group's  func�onal  and
presentation currency.
 

ii)       Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabili�es are translated at the rates ruling at the
repor�ng date. Exchange differences arising on the retransla�on of assets and liabili�es are



repor�ng date. Exchange differences arising on the retransla�on of assets and liabili�es are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
 

iii)      Foreign operations
In the Group's financial statements, all assets, liabili�es and transac�ons of Group en��es
with a func�onal currency other than GBP are translated into GBP upon consolida�on. The
func�onal currencies of en��es within the Group have remained unchanged during the
reporting period.
 
On consolida�on, assets and liabili�es have been translated into GBP at the closing rate at
the repor�ng date. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisi�on of a
foreign en�ty have been treated as assets and liabili�es of the foreign en�ty and translated
into GBP at the closing rate on the acquisi�on date. Income and expenses have been
translated into GBP at the average rate of over the repor�ng period. Exchange differences
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency
transla�on reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreign opera�on, the related cumula�ve
transla�on differences recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
 

f)      Segment Reporting
O pera�ng segments  are reported in a  manner cons istent with the internal  repor�ng provided to the chief
opera�ng decis ion-makers . The chief opera�ng decis ion-makers , who are responsible for a l loca�ng resources
and assess ing performance of the operating segments , has  been identi fied as  the executive Board of Directors .
 
Al l  opera�ons and informa�on are reviewed together so that at present there is  only one reportable opera�ng
segment.
 
I n the opinion of the Directors , during the period the Group operated in the s ingle bus iness  segment of
biotechnology.

 
g)     Goodwill and Intangible assets

Goodwi l l  represents  the future economic benefits  aris ing from a bus iness  combina�on that are not
individual ly iden�fied and separately recognised. Goodwi l l  i s  carried at cost less  accumulated impairment
losses . Refer to Note (h) for a  description of impairment testing procedures.
 
Transac�ons where the defini�on of a  bus iness  combina�on, per I F RS 3, i s  not met due to the asset or group of
assets  not mee�ng the defini�on of a  bus iness , or where the concentra�on test affords  the Directors  the op�on
not to treat as  a  bus iness , are recognised as  an asset acquis i�on. The Group iden�fies and recognises  the
individual  iden�fiable assets  acquired and l iabi l i�es  assumed and al locates  the cost of the group of assets
and l iabi l i�es  (including directly aHributable costs  of making the acquis i�on) to the individual  iden�fiable
assets  and l iabi l i ties  on the bas is  of their relative fa ir values  at the date of purchase.
 
O ther intangible assets , including l icences  and patents , that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful
l ives  are measured at cost less  accumulated amor�sa�on and any accumulated impairment losses . Refer to
Note (h) for amortisation procedures.

 
h)     Impairment testing of goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

For impairment assessment purposes, assets  are grouped at the lowest levels  for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash-genera�ng units ). As  a  result, some assets  are tested individual ly for
impairment, and some are tested at cash-genera�ng unit level . Goodwi l l  i s  a l located to those cash-genera�ng
units  that are expected to benefit from synergies  of a  related bus iness  combina�on and represent the lowest
level  within the Group at which management monitors  goodwi l l .
 
Cash-genera�ng units  to which goodwi l l  has  been al located are tested for impairment at least annual ly. Al l
other individual  assets  or cash-genera�ng units  are tested for impairment whenever events  or changes  in
circumstances  indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
 
An impairment loss  i s  recognised for the amount by which the asset's  (or cash-genera�ng unit's ) carrying
amount exceeds i ts  recoverable amount, which is  the higher of fa i r value less  costs  of disposal  and value-in-
use. To determine the value-in-use, management es�mates  expected future cash flows from each cash-
genera�ng unit and determines  a  suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The data used for impairment tes�ng procedures  are directly l inked to the Group's  latest approved
budget, adjusted as  necessary to exclude the effects  of future reorganisa�ons and asset enhancements .
Discount factors  are determined individual ly for each cash-genera�ng unit and reflect current market
assessments  of the time value of money and asset-speci fic risk factors .
 
I mpairment losses  for cash-genera�ng units  reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwi l l  a l located to that
cash-genera�ng unit. Any remaining impairment loss  i s  charged pro rata to the other assets  in the cash-
generating unit.
 
Amor�sa�on is  calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets  less  their es�mated res idual  values  us ing
the straight-l ine method over their es�mated useful  l ives , from the date the assets  are avai lable for use and is
recognised in profit or loss . The avai lable for use date is  determined as  the date from which a product is
commercial ised - this  had yet to occur, for a l l  intangible assets , at 31 December 2022 and 2021. Goodwi l l  i s
not amortised.
 

i)      Financial Instruments
I F RS 9 requires  an en�ty to address  the class ifica�on, measurement and recogni�on of financial  assets  and
l iabi l i ties .
 



 
i) Classification
The Group class i fies  i ts  financial  assets  in the fol lowing measurement categories :
 

·      those to be measured at amortised cost.
 
The class ifica�on depends on the Group's  bus iness  model  for managing the financial  assets  and the
contractual  terms of the cash flows.
 
The Group class i fies  financial  assets  as  at amortised cost only i f both of the fol lowing cri teria  are met:
·   the asset i s  held within a  bus iness  model  whose objective is  to col lect contractual  cash flows; and
·   the contractual  terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payment of principal  and interest.
 
i i ) Recognition
P urchases  and sales  of financial  assets  are recognised on trade date (that i s , the date on which the Group
commits  to purchase or sel l  the asset). F inancial  assets  are derecognised when the rights  to receive cash flows
from the financial  assets  have expired or have been transferred and the Group has  transferred substantia l ly a l l
the risks  and rewards  of ownership.
 
iii) Measurement
At ini�al  recogni�on, the Group measures  a  financial  asset at i ts  fa i r value plus , in the case of a  financial
asset not at fa i r value through profit or loss  (F VP L), transac�on costs  that are directly aHributable to the
acquis i tion of the financial  asset.
 
Transaction costs  of financial  assets  carried at FVPL are expensed in profi t or loss .
 
Receivables
Amor�sed cost: Assets  that are held for col lec�on of contractual  cash flows, where those cash flows represent
solely payments  of principal  and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets  i s  included in finance income us ing the effec�ve interest rate method. Any gain or loss  aris ing on
derecognition is  recognised directly in profi t or loss  and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains  and losses . I mpairment losses  are presented as  a  separate l ine i tem in the statement of profit
or loss .

 
iv) Impairment
The Group assesses , on a forward-looking bas is , the expected credit losses  associated with any debt
instruments  carried at amor�sed cost. For trade receivables , the Group appl ies  the s impl ified approach
permiHed by I F RS 9, which requires  expected l i fe�me losses  to be recognised from ini�al  recogni�on of the
receivables .

 
j)      Taxation

Taxation comprises  current and deferred tax.
 
Current tax is  based on taxable profit or loss  for the period. Taxable profit or loss  differs  from profit or loss  as
reported in the income statement because i t excludes  i tems of income and expense that are taxable or
deduc�ble in other years  and i t further excludes  i tems that are never taxable or deduc�ble. The asset or
l iabi l i ty for current tax is  calculated us ing tax rates  that have been enacted or substan�vely enacted by the
balance sheet date.
 
Deferred tax is  recognised on differences  between the carrying amounts  of assets  and l iabi l i�es  in the
financial  informa�on and the corresponding tax bases  used in the computa�on of taxable profit and is
accounted for us ing the balance sheet l iabi l i ty method. Deferred tax l iabi l i�es  are general ly recognised for a l l
taxable temporary differences  and deferred tax assets  are recognised to the extent that i t i s  probable that
taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable against which deduc�ble temporary differences  can be u�l ised. Such assets
and l iabi l i�es  are not recognised i f the temporary difference arises  from ini�al  recogni�on of goodwi l l  or from
the ini�al  recogni�on (other than in a  bus iness  combina�on) of other assets  and l iabi l i�es  in a  transac�on
that affects  neither the taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.
 
Deferred tax l iabi l i�es  are recognised for taxable temporary differences  aris ing on investments  in subs idiaries
and associates , and interests  in joint ventures , except where the Group is  able to control  the reversal  of the
temporary di fference and i t i s  probable that the temporary di fference wi l l  not reverse in the foreseeable future.
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets  i s  reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that i t i s  no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable to a l low al l  or part of the asset to
be recovered.
 
Deferred tax is  calculated at the tax rates  that are expected to apply in the period when the l iabi l i ty i s  seHled,
or the asset real ised. Deferred tax is  charged or credited to profit or loss , except when i t relates  to i tems
charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is  a lso dealt with in equity.

 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i�es  are offset when there is  a  legal ly enforceable right to set off current tax
assets  against current tax l iabi l i�es  and when they relate to income taxes  levied by the same taxa�on
authori ty and the Group intends to settle i ts  current tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  on a net bas is .
 
R&D tax rebate receivable represents  refundable tax offsets , in cash, from the Austral ian Taxa�on O ffice
("ATO ") in rela�on to expenditure incurred in the current year for el igible research and development ac�vi�es.
Research and development ac�vi�es  are refundable at a  rate of 43.5% for each dol lar spent, subject to mee�ng
certain el igibi l i ty cri teria. Funds are expected to be received subsequent to the lodgement of the income tax
return and research and development tax incen�ve schedule for the current financial  year. The Group
recognises  a  taxa�on credit, in the year the cash is  received, which general ly relates  to expenses  during the
prior period. I n future periods  (which wi l l  include UK  R&D tax credits ), once an establ ished paHern of
successful  cla ims is  recorded, the Group wi l l  cons ider an accruals  bas is , recording the tax credit and a
receivable in the period the el igible expenditure was incurred.

 
k)     Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and demand deposits with banks and
other financial ins�tu�ons, that are readily conver�ble into known amounts of cash, and which are



other financial ins�tu�ons, that are readily conver�ble into known amounts of cash, and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 
l)      Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued.
 
Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transac�on costs
directly associated with the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium, net of any related
income tax benefits.
 
Share based payments  represents  the value of equity seHled share-based payments  provided to employees,
including key management personnel , and third parties  for services  provided.
 
Trans la�on reserve comprises  foreign currency trans la�on differences  aris ing from the trans la�on of
financial  s tatements  of the Group's  foreign enti ties  into GBP on consol idation.
 
Retained losses represent the cumulative retained losses of the Group at the reporting date.
 
All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity.
 
No dividends are proposed for the period.

 
m)    Earnings per Ordinary Share

The Company presents  bas ic and di luted earnings  per share data for i ts  Ordinary Shares.
 
Bas ic earnings  per O rdinary Share is  calculated by dividing the profit or loss  aHributable to Shareholders  by
the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares  outstanding during the period.
 
Di luted earnings  per O rdinary Share is  calculated by adjus�ng the earnings  and number of O rdinary Shares  for
the effects  of di lutive potentia l  Ordinary Shares.

 
n)     Employee benefits

P rovis ion is  made for Lyramid's  l iabi l i ty for employee benefits  aris ing from services  rendered by employees  up
to the end of the repor�ng period. I n determining the l iabi l i ty, cons idera�on is  given to employee wage
increases  and the probabi l i ty that the employee may satis fy vesting requirements .
 
Short term obligations
Liabi l i ty for wages  and salaries , including non-monetary benefi ts , annual  leave, long service leave and
accumulating s ick leave expected to be settled within 12 months  of the reporting date are recognised in other
payables  in respect of employees ' services  up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts  expected
to be paid when the l iabi l i ties  are settled.
 
Other long-term employee benefit obligations
Liabi l i ty for annual  leave and long service leave not expected to be seHled within 12 months  from the repor�ng
date is  recognised in the provis ion for employee benefits  and measured as  the present value of expected future
payments  to be made in respect of services  provided by employees  up to the repor�ng date, us ing the projected
unit credit method. Considera�on is  given to expected future wage and salary levels , of employee departures
and period of service.
 
Retirement benefit obligations
Contribu�ons for re�rement benefit obl iga�ons are recognised as  an expense as  they become payable. P repaid
contributions  are recognised as  an asset to the extent that a  cash refund or a  reduction in the future payment is
avai lable. Contributions  are paid into the fund nominated by the employee.
 
Employee benefits provision
The l iabi l i ty for employee benefits  expected to be seHled more than 12 months  from the repor�ng date are
recognised and measured at the present value of the es�mated future cash flows to be made in respect of a l l
employees  at the repor�ng date. I n determining the present value of the l iabi l i ty, es�mates  of aHri�on rates
and pay increases  through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.

 
o)     Leases

Leases  are accounted for by recognis ing a  right-of-use asset and a lease l iabi l i ty, except for leases  of low value
assets  and leases  with a  dura�on of 12 months  or less , for which the lease cost i s  expensed in the period to
which i t relates .
 
A lease l iabi l i ty i s  recognised at the commencement date of a  lease. The lease l iabi l i ty i s  ini�al ly recognised at
the present value of the lease payments  to be made over the term of the lease, discounted us ing the interest rate
impl ici t in the lease or, i f that rate cannot be readi ly determined, the consol idated en�ty's  incremental
borrowing rate.
 
Lease payments  comprise of fixed payments  less  any lease incen�ves  receivable, variable lease payments  that
depend on an index or a  rate, amounts  expected to be paid under res idual  value guarantees, exercise price of a
purchase op�on when the exercise of the op�on is  reasonably certain to occur, and any an�cipated
termination penalties .
 
The variable lease payments  that do not depend on an index or a  rate are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Lease l iabi l i�es  are measured at amor�sed cost us ing the effec�ve interest method. The carrying
amounts  are remeasured i f there is  a  change in the fol lowing: future lease payments  aris ing from a change in
an index or a  rate used; res idual  guarantee; lease term; certainty of a  purchase op�on and termina�on
penal�es. W hen a lease l iabi l i ty i s  remeasured, an adjustment is  made to the corresponding right-of use asset,
or to profi t or loss  i f the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset i s  ful ly written down.



or to profi t or loss  i f the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset i s  ful ly written down.
 
Right-of-use assets  are ini�al ly measured at the amount of the lease l iabi l i ty, reduced for any lease incen�ves
received, and increased for: lease payments  made at or before commencement of the lease; ini�al  direct costs
incurred; and the amount of any provis ion recognised where the Group is  contractual ly required to dismantle,
remove or restore the leased asset.
 
For contracts  that both convey a right to the Group to use an iden�fied asset and require services  to be
provided to the Group by the lessor, the Group has  elected to account for the en�re contract as  a  lease, i .e. i t
does  not a l locate any amount of the contractual  payments  to, and account separately for, any services
provided by the suppl ier as  part of the contract.

 
p)     Share-based payments

The Company has  appl ied the requirements  of IFRS 2 Share-based payments .
 
The Company issues  equity seHled share-based payments  to the Directors  and to third par�es  for the provis ion
of services  provided for ass istance in ra is ing private equity. Equity seHled share-based payments  are
measured at fa i r value at the date of grant, or the date of the service provided. The fa ir value determined at the
grant date or service date of the equity seHled share-based payment is  recognised as  an expense, or recognised
against share premium where the service received relates  to ass istance in ra is ing equity, with a  corresponding
credit to the share based payment reserve. The fa ir value determined at the grant date of equity seHled share
based payment is  expensed on a straight-l ine bas is  over the l i fe of the ves�ng period, based on the Company's
es�mate of shares  that wi l l  eventual ly vest. O nce an op�on or warrant vests , no further adjustment is  made to
the aggregate expensed.
 
The fa ir value I s  measured by use of the Black Scholes  model  as  the Directors  view this  as  providing the most
rel iable measure of valua�on. The expected l i fe used in the model  has  been adjusted, based on management's
best es�mates, for the effects  of non-transferabi l i ty, exercise restric�ons and behavioural  cons idera�ons. The
market price used in the model  i s  the quoted LS E clos ing price. The fa ir value calculated is  inherently subjec�ve
and uncertain due to the assumptions  made and the l imitation of the calculation used.
 

q)     Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Group does  not enter into any forward exchange rate contracts .
 
The main financial  ri sks  aris ing from the Group's  ac�vi�es  are market risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange
risk, credit risk, l iquidity risk and capital  ri sk management. Further detai ls  on the risk disclosures  can be
found in Note 21.
 

r)      Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The prepara�on of the financial  s tatements  in conformity with I nterna�onal  F inancial  Repor�ng Standards
requires  the use of certain cri�cal  accoun�ng es�mates. I t a lso requires  management to exercise i ts  judgement
in the process  of applying the Group's  accounting pol icies .
 
Es�mates  and judgements  are con�nual ly evaluated, and are based on historical  experience and other
factors , including expecta�ons of future events  that are bel ieved to be reasonable under the ci rcumstances.
The Directors  cons ider the s ignificant accoun�ng judgements , es�mates  and assump�ons used within the
financial  s tatements  to be:
 
Impairment of non-financial assets and goodwill
I n assess ing impairment, management es�mates  the recoverable amount of each asset or cash-genera�ng unit
based on estimated cashflows from s imi lar market transactions.

 
Business combinations
Management uses  valua�on techniques  when determining the fa ir values  of certain assets  and l iabi l i�es
acquired in a  bus iness  combina�on (see Notes  1d and 4.2). I n par�cular, the fa ir value of con�ngent
consideration is  dependent on the market capital isation of the Group exceeding a  threshold amount.
 
Management has  performed the op�onal  concentra�on test avai lable under I F RS3, in order to determine that
the acquis i�on of O ncogeni  Ltd can be treated as  an asset acquis i�on. Judgement is  required to determine
whether 'substan�al ly a l l ' the fa ir value is  concentrated in a  s ingle asset or group of assets , and when
considering a  group of assets , assess ing whether those assets  are s imi lar. I n determining whether assets  are
s imi lar, judgement is  required to cons ider the nature of each s ingle iden�fiable asset and the risks  associated
with managing and crea�ng outputs  from the assets  (that i s , the risk characteris�cs). Management has
considered that the two separate in-progress  research and development programs, M K  cel l  therapy and STAT-6
s iRNA therapeutics , are s imi lar as  they are both pre-cl inical  s tage oncology treatments .
 
Share Based Payments 
I n the year to 31 December 2022, 900,000 (31 December 2021: 35,875,000) warrants  were granted. W hen
accoun�ng for the share-based payment expense in respect of those warrants  granted, management must
calculate the fa ir value of the share warrants  issued. Management have done so us ing the Black Scholes  model ,
however, a  number of the inputs  in this  model  are subjective and thus  management must make estimates.
 

4.      Acquisitions
 

4.1.     Acquisition of Oncogeni Limited
 

O n 16 September 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the equity instruments  of O ncogeni  Limited, a  UK  based
business , thereby obtaining control . The acquis i�on was assessed as  being complementary to the Group's
exis�ng pre-cl inical  drug development bus iness . The Group appl ied the concentra�on test under I F RS3 and
considered i t as  an asset acquis i tion.

 
The detai ls  of the asset acquis i tion are as  fol lows:

 

Fair value of consideration transferred £
Equity cons ideration 3,750,000
Costs  directly attributable to acquis i tion 109,079
Total 3,859,079
 
Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets at book
values



values
Trade and other receivables 7,294
Cash and cash equivalents 5,601
Total current assets 12,895

Trade and other payables 15,792
Total current liabilities 15,792

Identifiable net liabilities 2,897

Intangible asset at cost 3,861,975

Consideration transferred settled in cash -
Cash and cash equivalents  acquired 5,601
Net cash inflow on acquisition 5,601

Consideration transferred
The acquis i�on of O ncogeni  was  seHled for a  cons idera�on of £3,750,000, a l l  of which was payable in shares.
£109,079 of costs  directly aHributable to the acquis i�on have been included in the cons idera�on of the
transaction.

 
Identifiable net assets
The carrying value of the trade and other receivables  acquired as  part of the bus iness  combina�on amounted
to £7,294. As  of the acquis i�on date, the Group's  best es�mate of the contractual  cash flow not expected to be
col lected amounted to zero.
 
4.2.     Acquisition of Lyramid Pty Limited

 
O n 21 December 2021, Roquefort Therapeu�cs  acquired 100% of the equity instruments  of Lyramid P ty Limited,
an Austral ian based bus iness , thereby obtaining control . The acquis i�on was made in l ine with the Group's
stated strategic objective to pursue investments  in the global  biotechnology sector.

 
The detai ls  of the bus iness  combination as  fol lows:

 
Fair value of consideration transferred £
Amount settled in cash 648,495
Equity cons ideration 500,000
Loans ass igned at acquis i tion (132,800)
Fair value of contingent cons ideration -
Total 1,015,695
 
Recognised amounts of identifiable net assets at book values
Inventories 9,273
Trade and other receivables 42,674
Cash and cash equivalents 42,270
Total current assets 94,217

Borrowings 212,065
Deferred tax l iabi l i ties 281,911
Total non-current liabilities 493,976

Other l iabi l i ties 28,195
Trade and other payables 37,881
Total current liabilities 66,076

Identifiable net liabilities 465,835

Intangible asset at fair value 1,481,530

Consideration transferred settled in cash 648,496
Cash and cash equivalents  acquired (42,270)
Net cash outflow on acquisition 606,226

Acquisition costs charged to expenses 224,744

 
Consideration transferred
The acquis i�on of Lyramid was seHled for a  cons idera�on of £1,148,495; £648,495 being payable in cash and
£500,000 payable in shares. O n acquis i�on, loans  of £132,800 were ass igned from the previous  owner to the
Company.

 
The purchase agreement included an additional  contingent deferred cons ideration to the Sel ler to be satis fied in
the form of Ordinary Shares  as  fol lows:

 
( a )    i f prior to fiGh anniversary of Admiss ion (on 21 December 2021), the Company's  market capital isa�on

exceeds £25,000,000 for a  period of 5 or more consecu�ve trading days  the Company shal l  i ssue to the
Sel ler (or i ts  nominee) 5,000,000 Ordinary Shares; and

 
( b )    i f prior to fiGh anniversary of Admiss ion (on 21 December 2021) the Company's  market  capital isa�on

exceeds £50,000,000 for a  period of 5 or more consecu�ve trading days  the Company shal l  i ssue to the
Sel ler (or i ts  nominee) a  further 5,000,000 Ordinary Shares.

 
The fa ir value of contingent deferred cons ideration was estimated to be ni l  at acquis i tion, at 31 December 2021
and at 31 December 2022.

 
Acquis i�on-related costs  amoun�ng to £224,744 are not included as  part of cons idera�on transferred and
have been recognised as  an expense in the consol idated statement of profi t or loss , as  part of other expenses.



have been recognised as  an expense in the consol idated statement of profi t or loss , as  part of other expenses.
 
Identifiable net assets
The fa ir value of the trade and other receivables  acquired as  part of the bus iness  combina�on amounted to
£42,674. As  of the acquis i�on date, the Group's  best es�mate of the contractual  cash flow not expected to be
col lected amounted to zero.

 
Lyramid's contribution to the Group results
Lyramid incurred a loss  of £14,449, for the eleven days  from 21 December 2021 to the repor�ng date. Revenue
for this  period was £719.
 
I f Lyramid had been acquired on 17 August 2020, revenue of the Group for the period would have been £23,857,
and loss  for the period would have increased by £193,881.
 

5.      Investments in subsidiaries
The parent company has  investments  in the fol lowing subs idiary undertakings  which are unl isted:
 
NName Country of

incorporation
Holding Proportion of voting

rights
Principal activity

Subsidiary undertakings

Oncogeni  Limited England Ordinary
shares

100% Biotechnology research
company

Lyramid Pty Limited Austral ia Ordinary
shares

100% Biotechnology research
company

Tumorkine Pty Limited Austral ia Ordinary
shares

100% Dormant

 
6.      Directors' and Employees' Remuneration
 

Directors' Remuneration
Year ended 31

December 2022
£

Period ended
31 December

2021
£

Fees  to directors 308,692 47,301
Bonus - 10,000
Post-employment benefi ts 12,162 -
Share based payment charge 5,616 178,053

326,470 235,354
 

The total  remunera�on of the highest paid director was  £118,305 (2021: £160,825), including pens ion
contributions  of £4,054 (2021: £Ni l ).
 
Further informa�on about the remunera�on of individual  directors  are provided in the Directors '
Remuneration Report.

 
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel

Year ended 31
December 2022

£

Restated Period
ended

31 December
2021

£
Salaries  and short-term employee benefi ts                           308,692 49,200
Long term benefi ts - 10,221
Post-employment benefi ts 12,162 186
Share based payment charge 5,616 240,517

326,470 300,124
 

2021 Remunera�on of key management personnel  has  been restated to include al l  di rectors  and Graham
Robertson; i t was  previous ly disclosed incorrectly as  Graham Robertson only, which does  not meet the I AS24
defini�on of key management personnel  as  requiring the inclus ion of directors . Total  key management
personnel  remuneration was therefore restated from £64,770 to £300,124.

For 2022, upon the appointment of Ajan Reginald as  director and Chief Execu�ve O fficer, key management
personnel  has  been re-defined as  the directors  of Roquefort Therapeutics  plc only.

 
Average number of employees during the year (including Directors full time equivalent)

 
Year ended 31

December 2022
£

Period ended
31 December

2021
£

Continuing operations 5 1

 
At 31 December 2022 the Company had nine (9) employees  in total ; seven (7) D irectors : Stephen West, Ajan
Reginald, Mar�n Evans, Michael  Stein, S imon Sincla ir, Darrin Dis ley, Jean Duval l  and two (2) laboratory staff:
Sabena Sultan and Emma Morris .
 
Lyramid's  sole employee is  Graham Robertson.
 
Oncogeni  has  no employees.
 

7.      Revenue



7.      Revenue
Revenue in the period was £NIL (2021: £716).

8.      Other comprehensive income
I tems credited/(charged) to the other comprehensive income l ine of the statement of comprehensive income
relate to the impact of foreign exchange movements  on cash and cash equivalents  balances. The corresponding
movement is  offset against the foreign exchange reserve in the statement of financial  pos ition :

 
 

31 December
2022

£

31December
2021

£
Opening Balance  624 -

Foreign exchange impact (14,989) 624

Closing Balance  (14,365) 624

 
9.      Operating Loss

The fol lowing i tems have been charged/(credited) to the statement of comprehensive income in arriving at the
Group's  operating loss  from continuing operations:

 
Year ended

 31 December
2022

£

Period ended
31 December

2021
£

 
Directors ' and employee costs 365,564 59,607
Legal  fees 46,373 31,165
Consulting and profess ional  fees 209,768 125,807
Other expenditure 684,854 35,818
Administrative expenses 1,306,561 252,392
Costs  associated with the IPO - 182,053
Share based payments  to directors  and senior
management

8,427 248,326

Costs  associated with acquis i tion of
subs idiary          

- 224,744

Research and development expenditure1 319,315 698
Total operating expenditure 1,634,303 908,213

               
1 Includes short term lease expense of £81,250 for rental of laboratory during the year (2021: £Nil).
 
During the year the Group obtained the fol lowing services  from i ts  auditor:

 
Year ended

31 December
2022

£

Period ended
31 December

2021
£

Audit Services
Statutory audit - Group and Company 157,336 22,000

 
The Group incurred no finance costs  during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £ni l ).

 
10.   Taxation

Year ended
31 December 2022

£

Period ended
31 December 2021

£
Current tax - -
Deferred tax - -
Austral ian R&D rebate 1 18,886 -
Income tax credit 18,886 -

1 R&D tax rebate receivable represents refundable tax offsets, in cash, from the Australian Taxation Office ("ATO") in relation to expenditure incurred in the

prior year for eligible research and development activities

 
Income tax can be reconciled to the loss in the statement of comprehensive income as follows:

 
 

Year ended
31 December

2022
£

Restated
Period ended

31 December 2021
£

Loss (1,615,417) (917,433)
R&D tax rebate 18,886 -

(1,634,303) (917,433)
Tax at the UK Corporation rate of 19% 310,517 174,312
Effect of overseas  tax rates 21,642 -
Expenditure disal lowable for taxation (82,705) (75,850)
Share based payment temporary di fference on which no deferred
tax asset has  been recognised (1,067) (47,181)
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates 74,363 12,377

Tax losses on which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised

(322,750) (63,658)

Total tax (charge)/credit - -
 



 
UK - -
Overseas - -
Total tax (charge)/credit) - -

 
The above tax reconci l ia�on and unrecognised deferred tax disclosure in the 2021 Annual  Report was
incorrectly calculated based on the 2021 financial  year tax rate of 19% appl ied to the consol idated accoun�ng
loss  of £917,433, rather than the substan�vely enacted expected future tax rate when the differences  reverse,
appl ied to the taxable loss , and incorrectly disclosed al l  such deferred tax (£175,000) as  rela�ng to losses . The
2021 deferred tax disclosures  have been restated to reflect the expenditure disal lowable for taxa�on to derive
the taxable losses  and share-based payment �ming differences, the substan�vely enacted expected future tax
rate when the differences  reverse of 25%, and to disclose tax losses  separately from other �ming differences
such as  share-based payments , and deferred tax thereon. Disclosures  have been expanded to separate UK  from
Austral ian tax losses  and deferred tax thereon.

 
The Group has  accumulated tax losses  of approximately £1,557,117 (Restated 2021: £254,638) that are
avai lable, under current legis la�on, to be carried forward indefinitely against future profits .  An error was
identi fied in the prior year's  accumulated tax losses  and the amount has  been restated.

 
The tax losses  can be broken down to the fol lowing:

Year ended
31 December 2022

£

Restated Period
ended

31 December 2021
£

 AU (125,138) (62,784)
 UK (1,431,979) (191,854)
Carried forward tax losses (1,557,117) (254,638)

 
A deferred tax asset has  not been recognised in respect of these losses  due to the uncertainty of future profits .
The amount of the deferred tax asset not recognised is  approximately £389,279 (2021: £63,660). An error was
identi fied in the prior year's  deferred tax asset amount and the amount has  been restated.

 
Year ended

31 December 2022
£

Restated
Period ended

31 December 2021
£

UK AU UK AU
Tax effect of temporary di fferences:

Accumulated losses
                     

(357,995)
                       

(31,285)         (47,964)
                      

(15,696)

Deductible temporary di fferences
                       

(14,181)
                                 

-  (53,502) - 

Deferred tax (asset)/liability not recognised
                    

(372,176)
                       

(31,285)
      

(101,466)
                       

(15,696)
 
O n 3 March 2021, the Chancel lor announced that the corpora�on tax rate would be increas ing to 25% from 1
Apri l  2023 for Companies  with profits  over £250,000. The Company calculated the UK  deferred tax balances
at 25% and the Austral ian deferred tax balances  at the current smal l  company tax rate of 25%, which is
expected to continue in future periods.

 
11.   Earnings per share

Year ended 31 December
2022

£

Period ended
31 December

2021
£

Loss  attributable to equity shareholders (1,615,417) (917,433)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 103,479,476 24,701,793
Loss per share in pence
Basic (1.56) (3.71)
Di luted (1.56) (3.71)

 
There is  no difference between the bas ic and di luted earnings  per share as  the effect would be to decrease
earnings  per share.

 
As  at the end of the financial  period there were 35,272,000 (2021: 34,375,000) warrants  in issue, which could
potentia l ly have an anti -di lutive impact depending on the results  of the Company. 

 
12.   Intangible Assets
 

In-progress R&D
£

Goodwill
£

Total
£

Cost
At 1 January 2022 1,199,619 281,911 1,481,530
Acquired through asset acquis i tion 3,861,975 - 3,861,975

At 31 December 2022 5,061,594 281,911 5,343,505
 
Amortisation
At 1 January 2022 - -
Amortisation - - -
Impairment Charge - - -

At 31 December 2022 - - -
Carrying value
At 31 December 2022 5,061,594 281,911 5,343,505

 
The Directors  have concluded that there has  been no impairment of the goodwi l l  associated with the
acquis i�on of Lyramid P ty Limited at 31 December 2022. The Goodwi l l  represents  the offseXng balance to the



acquis i�on of Lyramid P ty Limited at 31 December 2022. The Goodwi l l  represents  the offseXng balance to the
deferred tax l iabi l i ty for the acquis i tion of Lyramid.

 
In-progress R&D

£
Goodwill

£
Total

£
Cost
At 17 August 2020 - - -
Acquis i tion through bus iness  combination 1,119,619 281,911 1,481,530

At 31 December 2021 1,119,619 281,911 1,481,530
 
Amortisation
At 17 August 2020 - - -
Impairment Charge - - -

At 31 December 2021 - - --
Carrying value
At 17 August 2020 -
At 31 December 2021 1,119,619 281,911 1,481,530

 
At 31 December 2022, the Group performed i ts  annual  impairment test in rela�on to intangible assets  not yet
avai lable for use and iden�fied no indicators  of impairment in l ine with I AS 36 I mpairment of Assets , as  a l l
acquired in-progress  R&D programs are in ac�ve development and progress ing as  planned. At the test date, i t
was  determined that due to the ongoing pre-cl inical  research and development us ing in-progress  R&D
acquired, there was too much uncertainty to es�mate a value-in-use, based on discounted future cash flows
from the assets . The Group es�mated fa ir value less  costs  to sel l , by referring to market transac�ons for pre-
cl inical  and cl inical  oncology drug candidates . Due to the nature of oncology drug development, the fa ir value
is  not cons idered to be par�cularly sens i�ve to any one underlying valua�on assump�on other than the
ultimate outcome of drug development and commercial isation, which is  binary.

 
Accordingly, the Group has  concluded that the es�mated recoverable amount of the assets  did exceed the
carrying amount and therefore no impairment was  identi fied.

 
13.   Investments

 
 
 
Company

Investment in
Lyramid Ltd

£

Investment in
Oncogeni Ltd

 
£

Shares in subsidiary
undertakings

 
£

Cost at 1 January 2022 1,015,695 - 1,015,695

Additions - 3,859,079 3,859,079

Cost at 31 December 2022 1,015,695 3,859,079 4,874,774
Impairment
At 1 January 2022 - - -
Charge for the period - - -

At 31 December 2022 - - -

Net book value at 31
December 2022

1,015,695 3,859,079 4,874,774

 
 
 
 
Company

Investment in
Lyramid Ltd

 
£

Cost at 17 August 2020 -
Additions 1,015,695

Cost at 31 December 2021 1,015,695
Impairment
At 17 August 2020 -
Charge for the period -

At 31 December 2021 -

Net book value at 17 August 2020 -
Net book value at 31 December 2021 1,015,695

 
I n the period the Company acquired 100% of the issued shares  of O ncogeni  Limited. The Directors  have
concluded that there has  been no impairment to the investment in Oncogeni  Limited at 31 December 2022.

 
I n 2021 the Company acquired 100% of the issued shares  of Lyramid P ty Limited. The Directors  have concluded
that there has  been no impairment to the investment in Lyramid P ty Limited at 31 December 2022 or 31
December 2021.

 
Impairment review disclosures  required by IAS36 are included in note 12 to the financial  s tatements .

 
14.   Trade and other receivables

Group Group Company Company
31 December

2022
£

31 December
2021

£

31 December
2022

£

31 December
2021

£
Trade receivables - 17,825 - -
Other receivables 45,124 2,135,031 - 2,130,875
Prepayments  and accrued income 56,614 25,927 64,309 5,349



 101,738 2,178,783 64,309 2,136,224
 

There are no materia l  differences  between the fa ir value of trade and other receivables  and their carrying value
at the year end.

 
The other receivables  balance in the prior year relates  primari ly to shares  issued in December 2021 as  part of
the acquis i tion of Lyramid. These monies  were col lected in ful l  in January 2022.

 
No receivables  were past due or impaired at the year end.

 
15.   Cash and cash equivalents
 

Group Group Company Company
31 December

2022
£

31 December
2021

£

31 December
2022

£

31 December
2021

£

Cash at bank and in hand 2,322,974 899,721 2,274,478 857,614
 

The Directors  cons ider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents  approximates  to their fa i r value.
 
16.   Trade and other payables

Group Group Company Company
31 December

2022
£

31 December
2021

£

31 December
2022

£

31 December
2021

£
Trade creditors 68,379 40,718 26,209 962
Accruals  and other creditors 211,291 154,799 157,593 126,688

 279,670 195,517 183,802 127,650
 

The fa ir value of trade and other payables  approximates  their current book values.
 
17.   Deferred tax assets and liabilities

 
Group Company

£ £
At 1 January 2022 281,911 -
Released in year - -
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty recognised in bus iness  combination - -

At 31 December 2022 281,911 -

At 17 August 2020 - -
Deferred tax l iabi l i ty recognised in bus iness  combination 281,911 -

At 31 December 2021 281,911 -
 
See note 4.2 - Acquis i tion of Lyramid Pty Limited.

 
18.   Share capital
 

Group and Company
Ordinary

Shares
Share

Capital
Share Premium Total

No. £ £ £

Issue of ordinary shares  on
incorporation1      5,000,000        50,000  -            50,000

Issue of ordinary shares  2     7,400,000        74,000  -            74,000

Issue of ordinary shares  3    20,000,000      200,000          800,000       1,000,000
Exercise of broker warrants
4     1,500,000        15,000  -            15,000

Issue of ordinary shares  5      3,000,000        30,000          120,000          150,000

Issue of ordinary shares  6   30,000,000      300,000       2,700,000       3,000,000

Issue of ordinary shares  7     5,000,000        50,000 -          50,000
Share issue costs  -  -   (159,405)   (159,405)
At 31 December 2021
(restated)   71,900,000      719,000 3,460,595 4,179,595

Issue of ordinary shares8 50,000,000 500,000 - 500,000

Issue of ordinary shares9 7,249,998 72,500 942,499 1,014,999

At 31 December 2022 129,149,998 1,291,500 4,403,094 5,694,594
 

The share premium account balance for the year ended 31 December 2021 has  been restated due to an amount
of £450,000 previous ly recognised in 2021 as  being credited to the share premium account, reclass ified as
being credited to the merger reserve (refer to the consol idated and company statements  of financial  pos i�on,
and to Note 20).

 
1  On incorporation on 17 August 2020, the Company issued 5,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 at their nominal value of £0.01 per share. 
2  On 20 November 2020, the Company issued 7,400,000 ordinary shares at their nominal value of £0.01 per share.
3  On admission to the Standard List of the LSE on 22 March 2021, 20,000,000 shares were issued at a placing price of £0.05 per share.
4  On 19 April 2021 1,500,000 brokers warrants were exercised at the exercise price of £0.01 per share, resulting in the issue of 1,500,000 ordinary shares.



4  On 19 April 2021 1,500,000 brokers warrants were exercised at the exercise price of £0.01 per share, resulting in the issue of 1,500,000 ordinary shares.
5  On 18 August 2021, the Company issued 3,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 at an issue price of £0.05 per share.
6  On 21 December 2021, the Company issued 30,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 at an issue price of £0.10 per share.
7  On 21 December 2021, the Company issued 5,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 at an issue price of £0.10 per share.
8  On 16 September 2022, the Company issued 50,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 to acquire Oncogeni Limited, recorded at the market price of £0.075

per share.
9  On 16 September 2022, the Company issued 7,249,998 ordinary shares of £0.01 for cash at a placing price of £0.14 per share.

19.   Share Based Payment Reserves

Group and Company
 

2022
£

2021
£

Opening balance 366,708 -
Directors  warrants  issued 1  - 6,833

Broker seed warrants  issued 2 - 60,002

Broker placing warrants  issued 3 - 8,076

Completion warrants  issued 4 - 100,947

Senior management warrants  issued 5 - 140,544

Optiva warrants  issued 6 - 44,417

Orana warrants  issued 7 - 5,889

NED and Advisor warrants  issued8 8,427 -
At 31 December 375,135 366,708

 
1 On admission to LSE on 22 March 2021 750,000 directors' warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one Ordinary Share at
£0.05 per ordinary share and a further 750,000 directors warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one ordinary share at £0.10
per ordinary share. Upon issue all warrants vested on the earlier of 12 months or the Company completing the acquisition of a company or business. All
warrants vested on 21 December 2021 when the Company completed the acquisition of Lyramid Pty Ltd.

2 On admission to LSE on 22 March 2021 1,500,000 brokers warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one Ordinary Share at
£0.01 per ordinary share. The warrants vested immediately upon grant.

3 On admission to LSE on 22 March 2021, 480,000 Broker Placing Warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one ordinary share
at the placing price of £0.05 per ordinary share. The warrants vested immediately upon grant.

4 On readmission to LSE on 21 December 2021, 3,000,000 Completion Warrants were issued that entitle, Stephen West (the warrant holder) to subscribe
for one ordinary share at £0.10 per ordinary share. The warrants vested immediately upon grant.

5 On readmission to LSE on 21 December 2021, 4,500,000 Senior Management Warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one
ordinary share at £0.15 per ordinary share. One third of the warrants vest on 21 December 2022, 21 December 2023 and 21 December 2024.

6 On readmission to LSE on 21 December 2021, 1,320,000 Optiva Warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one ordinary share
at £0.10 per ordinary share. The warrants vested immediately upon grant.

7 On re-admission to LSE on 21 December 2021, 175,000 Orana Warrants were issued that entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one ordinary share at
£0.10 per ordinary share. The warrants vested immediately upon grant.

8 On 26 June 2022, Ms Jean Duvall, Dr Simon Sinclair and Professor Trevor Jones were awarded 300,000 NED and Advisor warrants each. These warrants
entitle the warrant holder to subscribe for one ordinary share at £0.15 per ordinary share. 50% Warrants are exercisable one year after grant date with the
remaining balance exercisable two years after grant date.

The fa ir value of the services  received in return for the warrants  granted are measured by reference to the fa ir
value of the warrants  granted. The es�mate of the fa ir value of the warrants  granted is  measured based on the
Black-Scholes  valuations  model . Measurement inputs  and assumptions  are as  fol lows:

 
Warrant Number of

warrants Share Price
Exercise

Price
Expected
volatility

Expected
life

Risk free
rate*

Expected
dividends

Di re ctor 750,000 £0.05 £0.05 50.00% 5 0.15% 0.00%

Di re ctor 750,000 £0.05 £0.10 50.00% 5 0.15% 0.00%

Broke r 1,500,000 £0.05 £0.01 50.00% 0.08 0.15% 0.00%

Broke r Pl a ci ng 480,000 £0.05 £0.05 50.00% 3 0.15% 0.00%

Compl e ti on 3,000,000 £0.10 £0.10 50.00% 3 0.15% 0.00%

Se ni or Mgt 4,500,000 £0.10 £0.15 50.00% 5 0.15% 0.00%

Opti va 1,320,000 £0.10 £0.10 50.00% 3 0.15% 0.00%

Ora na 175,000 £0.10 £0.10 50.00% 3 0.15% 0.00%

NED a nd Advi s or 900,000 £0.08 £0.15 50.00% 5 0.15% 0.00%

TOTAL 13,375,000  

* restated - the risk-free rate for all 2021 warrants was incorrectly disclosed as 15% in the 2021 Annual Report. The correct figure (0.15%) was used in the
underlying share-based payment calculations and therefore there is no effect on the 2021 performance or position of the Group and Company.
 
Warrants

 Number of Warrants Exercise Price Expiry date 

On incorporation - - -

Issued on 25 November 2020 5,000,000 £0.10 22 March 2026

Issued on 25 November 2020 7,000,000 £0.10 22 March 2026

Issued on 17 March 2021 1,500,000 £0.01 20 Apri l  2021

Issued on 17 March 2021 480,000 £0.05 22 March 2024

Issued on 17 March 2021 750,000 £0.05 22 March 2026

Issued on 17 March 2021 750,000 £0.10 22 March 2026

Issued on 17 March 2021 10,000,000 £0.10 21 March 2023

Exercised on 19 Apri l  2021 (1,500,000) £0.01 20 Apri l  2021

Issued on 18 August 2021 1,500,000 £0.10 22 March 2023



Issued on 18 August 2021 1,500,000 £0.10 22 March 2023

Issued on 13 October 2021 3,000,000 £0.10 21 December 2024

Issued on 13 October 2021 4,500,000 £0.15 21 December 2026

Issued on 13 October 2021 1,320,000 £0.10 21 December 2024

Issued on 13 October 2021 175,000 £0.10 21 December 2024

At 31 December 2021 34,475,000 £0.105

Issued on 28 Apri l  20221 900,000 £0.15 28 Apri l  2027

At 31 December 2022 35,375,000 £0.106

150% of the warrants vest on 28 April 2023 and the remainder vest on 28 April 2024

The weighted average time to expiry of the warrants  as  at 31 December 2022 is  3.10 years  (2021: 3.05 years).

The expected vola�l i ty was  calculated us ing the Exponen�al ly Weighted Moving Average Mode. Due to l imited
trading history comparable l i s ted peer company information was used.

 

20.   Merger Relief Reserve

Group and Company  
£

At 1 January 2021 -
Acquis i tion of Lyramid Pty Ltd 1 450,000

At 31 December 2021 450,000

Acquis i tion of Oncogeni  Limited 2 3,250,000

At 31 December 2022 3,700,000
 

1 The issue on 21 December 2021 of 5,000,000 new shares relating to the acquisition of Lyramid Pty Ltd. The reserve reflects the difference between the
nominal value of shares at the date of issue of £0.01 and the share price immediately preceding the issue of £0.10 per share. The shares issued formed part
of the consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the equity of Lyramid and therefore qualify for merger relief.
2 The issue on 16 September 2022 of 50,000,000 new shares relating to the acquisition of Oncogeni Ltd. The reserve reflects the difference between the
nominal value of shares at the date of issue of £0.01 and the share price immediately preceding the issue of £0.75 per share. The shares issued formed part
of the consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the equity of Oncogeni and therefore qualify for merger relief.

 
21.  Financial Instruments and Risk Management

 
Capital Risk Management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to con�nue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders. The overall strategy of the Group is to minimise costs and
liquidity risk.
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity aHributable to equity holders of the Group,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the Statement of
Changes of Equity.
 
The Group is exposed to a number of risks through its normal opera�ons, the most significant of
which are interest, credit, foreign exchange, commodity and liquidity risks. The management of
these risks is vested to the Board of Directors.
 
The sensi�vity has been prepared assuming the liability outstanding was outstanding for the
whole period. In all cases presented, a nega�ve number in profit and loss represents an increase in
finance expense / decrease in interest income.
 
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obliga�ons and arises principally from the Group's
receivables from customers. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include,
amongst others, failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 120 days past
due.
 
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
 
The principal financial assets of the Group are bank balances. The Group deposits surplus liquid
funds with counterparty banks that have high credit ra�ngs, and the Directors consider the credit
risk to be minimal.
 
The Group's  maximum exposure to credit by class  of individual  financial  instrument is  shown in the table



The Group's  maximum exposure to credit by class  of individual  financial  instrument is  shown in the table
below:

Carrying value at
31 December 2022

£

 Maximum exposure at
31 December 2022

£
Trade receivables 56,613 56,613
Other receivables 45,124 45,124
Cash and cash equivalents 2,322,974 2,322,974

2,424,741 2,424,741
 
Currency Risk
The Group operates  in a  global  market with income and costs  poss ibly aris ing in a  number of currencies  and is
exposed to foreign currency risk aris ing from commercial  transac�ons, trans la�on of assets  and l iabi l i�es
and net investment in foreign subs idiaries . Exposure to commercial  transac�ons arise from sales  or purchases
by opera�ng companies  in currencies  other than the Group's  func�onal  currency. Currency exposures  are
reviewed regularly.
 
The Group has  a  l imited level  of exposure to foreign exchange risk through their foreign currency denominated
cash balances  and a por�on of the Group's  costs  being incurred in Austral ian Dol lars . Accordingly, movements
in the Sterl ing exchange rate against these currencies  could have a detrimental  effect on the Group's  results
and financial  condition.
 
Currency risk i s  managed by maintaining some cash deposits  in currencies  other than Sterl ing.
 
The table below shows the currency profi les  of cash and cash equivalents :

Cash and cash equivalents

At 31 December
2022

£
Sterl ing 2,279,240
Austral ian Dol lars 43,734

2,322,974
 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
As at 31 December 2022, the sens i�vity analys is  assumes a +/-10% change of the AUD/GBP, exchange rates ,
which represents  management's  assessment of a  reasonably poss ible change in foreign exchange rates  (2021:
10%). The sens i�vity analys is  was  appl ied on net loss  on the Austral ian opera�ons and the carrying value of
financial  assets  and l iabi l i ties .

   

 
At 31 December 2022

£
At 31 December 2021

£

 
+10% weaker (10%)

stronger
+10%

weaker
(10%)

stronger
Net Loss1 (34,181) 34,181 (1,445) 1,445
Carrying value of net assets (594) 594 (167) 167

 
1 10% weaker relates to the Great British Pound weakening against the currency and therefore the Group would incur greater expenditure in its functional
currency
2 10% weaker relates to the Great British Pound weakening against the currency and therefore the net liabilities (excluding intercompany borrowings) 
denominated in AUD will increase

 
Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  encounter difficulty in mee�ng the obl iga�ons associated with i ts
financial  l iabi l i�es  that are seHled by del ivering cash or another financial  asset. The Group's  approach to
managing l iquidity i s  to ensure, as  far as  poss ible, that i t wi l l  have sufficient l iquidity to meet i ts  l iabi l i�es
when they are due, under both normal  and stressed condi�ons, without incurring unacceptable losses  or
risking damage to the Group's  reputation.

 
The Group seeks  to manage l iquidity risk by regularly reviewing cash flow budgets  and forecasts  to ensure that
sufficient l iquidity i s  avai lable to meet foreseeable needs and to invest cash assets  safely and profitably. The
Group deems there is  sufficient l iquidity for the foreseeable future.
 
The principal  current asset of the bus iness  is  cash and cash equivalents  and is  therefore the principal
financial  instrument employed by the Group to meet i ts  l iquidity requirements . The Board ensures  that the
business  maintains  surplus  cash reserves  to minimise any l iquidity risk.
 
The financial  l iabi l i�es  of the Group and Company, predominantly trade and other payables , are mostly due
within 3 months  (2021: 3 months) of the Consol idated Statement of F inancial  Pos i�on date; therefore, the
undiscounted amount payable is  the same as  their carrying value. Further analys is  of the lease commitment is
provided in note 23. Al l  other non-current l iabi l i�es  are due between 1 to 5 years  aGer the period end. The
Group does  not have any borrowings  or payables  on demand which would increase the risk of the Group not
holding sufficient reserves  for repayment.

 
The Group had cash and cash equivalents at period end as below:

 

At 31 December
2022

£
Cash and cash equivalents 2,322,974

2,322,974

Interest Rate Risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk whereby the risk can be a reduc�on of interest received
on cash surpluses held and an increase in interest on borrowings the Group may have. The
maximum exposure to interest rate risk at the reporting date by class of financial asset was:

 



 

 

At 31 December
2022

£
Bank balances 2,322,974

2,322,974

 
The Group does not currently earn interest on its cash deposits.

 
22.   Financial assets and financial liabilities

   
Group
 
 

31 December 2022
Financial assets/liabilities

Financial
Assets

At amortised
Cost

£

Financial
Liabilities

At amortised
Cost

£
Total

£
Trade and other receivables 101,737 - 101,737
Cash and cash equivalents 2,322,974 - 2,322,974
Trade and other payables - (279,668) (279,668)

 2,424,711 (279,668) 2,145,043
 

   
Company
 
 

31 December 2022
Financial assets/liabilities

Financial
Assets

At amortised
Cost

£

Financial
Liabilities

At amortised
Cost

£
Total

£
Trade and other receivables 515,931 - 515,931
Cash and cash equivalents 2,274,478 - 2,274,478
Trade and other payables - (183,802) (183,802)

 2,790,409 (183,802) 2,606,607
 

23.   Commitments
At 31 December

2022
£

At 31 December
2021

£
 

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as  l iabi l i ties ,
payable:
Laboratory rental       37,500 -
Research & Development 105,655 -

 
24.   Contingent Liabilities

There were no con�ngent l iabi l i�es  at 31 December 2022 or 31 December 2021. Detai ls  of deferred con�ngent
consideration are disclosed in note 4.2.

 
25.   Related party transactions

There were no related party transactions during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.
 
26.   Post reporting date events

On 20 February 2023 the Company announced that it had signed an exclusive licence and royalty
agreement, for the field of medical diagnos�cs only, with a leading interna�onal diagnos�cs
company, Randox Laboratories Ltd ("Randox"), in rela�on to its Midkine an�body por;olio. 
Randox and Roquefort Therapeutics will now engage in collaborative research programs to develop
new cancer diagnos�cs that will iden�fy pa�ents treatable with the Company's Midkine
therapeu�cs. The Group is eligible to receive upfront and poten�al marke�ng milestone receipts,
as well as royal�es on diagnos�cs products sold. The Group received from Randox an upfront
amount of £200,000 and can earn further poten�al milestone receipts of up to £150,000 for
marketing approval in certain jurisdictions.
 

On 8 March 2023 the Company announced that it had successfully developed a new novel pla;orm
of anti-cancer mRNA therapeutics.

 
27.   Ultimate controlling party

As at 31 December 2022, there was no ultimate control l ing party

This information is provided by RNS, the news service of the London Stock Exchange. RNS is approved by the Financial Conduct Authority to act as a
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